

Cancer Treatment & Survivorship Facts & Figures 2019-2021



Estimated Numbers of Cancer Survivors by State as of January 1, 2019

States estimates do not sum to US total due to rounding.

Source: Surveillance Research Program, Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences, National Cancer Institute.

Contents

Introduction	
Who Are Cancer Survivors?	1
How Many People Have a History of Cancer?	
Cancer Treatment and Common Side Effects	
Cancer Survival and Access to Care	
Selected Cancers	
Breast (Female)	6
Cancers in Children and Adolescents	
Colon and Rectum	
Leukemia and Lymphoma	
Lung and Bronchus	
Melanoma of the Skin	
Prostate	
Testis	17
Thyroid	
Urinary Bladder	
Uterine Corpus	
Navigating the Cancer Experience: Treatment and Supportive Care	
Making Decisions about Cancer Care	
Cancer Rehabilitation	
Psychosocial Care	23
Palliative Care	

Transitioning to Long-term Survivorship 23

Long-term Survivorship	. 24
Quality of Life	
Financial Hardship among Cancer Survivors	, <u>,</u> 26
Regaining and Improving Health through Healthy Behaviors	26
Concerns of Caregivers and Families	. 28
The Future of Cancer Survivorship in the United States	. ,28
The American Cancer Society	30
The American Cancer Society How the American Cancer Society Saves Lives	30 30
The American Cancer Society How the American Cancer Society Saves Lives Research	30 30 34
The American Cancer Society How the American Cancer Society Saves Lives Research Advocacy	30 30 34 34
The American Cancer Society How the American Cancer Society Saves Lives Research Advocacy Sources of Statistics	30 30 34 34 34
The American Cancer Society How the American Cancer Society Saves Lives Research Advocacy Sources of Statistics References	30 30 34 34 36 37

This publication attempts to summarize current scientific information about cancer. Except when specified, it does not represent the official policy of the American Cancer Society.

Suggested citation: American Cancer Society. *Cancer Treatment & Survivorship Facts & Figures 2019-2021*. Atlanta: American Cancer Society; 2019.

Global Headquarters: American Cancer Society Inc. 250 Williams Street, NW, Atlanta, GA 30303-1002 404-320-3333

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc. All rights reserved, including the right to reproduce this publication or portions thereof in any form.

For permission, email the American Cancer Society Legal department at permissionsrequests@cancer.org.

Introduction

Who Are Cancer Survivors?

The number of cancer survivors living in the United States continues to increase each year as a result of the growth and aging of the population, as well as increases in survival due to changes in early-detection practices and treatment advances. The survivor population represents a diverse range of experiences with cancer. Information about current treatment patterns and cancer survivorship issues can help the public health community meet the needs of this expanding and heterogeneous population.

Cancer prevalence is defined as the total number of cancer survivors living in a population. In this report, the term "cancer survivor" refers to any person with a history of cancer, from the time of diagnosis through the remainder of their life. However, many people with a history of cancer do not identify with the term "cancer survivor."¹ The definition of cancer survivorship has evolved from a focus on three phases (the time from diagnosis to the end of initial treatment, the transition from treatment to extended survival, and long-term survival) to encompass a wide range of experiences and trajectories. For example, some individuals may live cancer free for the remainder of their life after initial treatment, while others may live with cancer as a chronic disease or experience recurrence or a subsequent cancer.

This report summarizes current statistics on cancer prevalence and initial treatment patterns in the United States. Available information on long-term and late effects of cancer and its treatment, recurrence and subsequent cancers, financial hardships, and health behaviors among cancer survivors is also presented.

Male		Female	Female			
Prostate	3,650,030	Breast	3,861,520			
n Colon & rectum	776,120	Uterine corpus	807,860			
Melanoma of the skin	684,470	Colon & rectum	768,650			
Urinary bladder	624,490	Thyroid	705,050			
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	400,070	Melanoma of the skin	672,140			
Kidney & renal pelvis	342,060	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	357,650			
Testis	287,780	Lung & bronchus	313,140			
Lung & bronchus	258,200	Uterine cervix	283,120			
E Leukemia	256,790	Ovary	249,230			
Cral cavity & pharynx	249,330	Kidney & renal pelvis	227,510			
All sites	8,138,790	All sites	8,781,580			
Male		Female				
Prostate	5,017,810	4,957,960				
Colon & rectum	994,210	Uterine corpus	1,023,290			
Melanoma of the skin	936,980	Thyroid	989,340			
Urinary bladder	832,910	Colon & rectum	965,590			
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	535,870	Melanoma of the skin	888,740			
Kidney & renal pelvis	476,910	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	480,690			
Testis	361,690	Lung & bronchus	398,930			
Leukemia	352,900	Kidney & renal pelvis	316,620			
Lung & bronchus	325,680	Ovary	297,580			
Oral cavity & pharynx	315,750	Uterine cervix	288,710			
All citor	10 995 610	All sites	11 174 200			

Estimates for specific cancers account for the fact that some individuals have a history of multiple different cancer types. See Sources of Statistics, page 36, for more information. **Source:** Surveillance Research Program, Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences, National Cancer Institute.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

How Many People Have a History of Cancer?

An estimated 16.9 million individuals with a history of cancer were alive on January 1, 2019, in the United States. This estimate does not include carcinoma in situ (noninvasive cancer) of any site except urinary bladder, nor does it include basal cell or squamous cell skin cancers. By January 1, 2030, it is estimated that the population of cancer survivors will increase to more than 22.1 million due to the growth and aging of the population alone (Figure 1). Currently, cancers of the prostate, colon and rectum (colorectum), and melanoma of the skin are the three most prevalent among males, whereas cancers of the breast, uterine corpus, and colorectum are most prevalent among females (Figure 1).

The majority of cancer survivors (67%) were diagnosed 5 or more years ago, and 18% were diagnosed 20 or more years ago (Table 1). Nearly two-thirds (64%) of survivors are 65 years of age or older, while only 1 in 10 are younger than 50 years of age (Table 2), with considerable variation by cancer type (Figure 2).

Table 1. Estimated Number of US Cancer Survivors by Sex and Years Since Diagnosis as of January 1, 2019

	Male and Female			Male			Female		
Years since diagnosis	Number	Percent	Cummulative Percent	Number	Percent	Cummulative Percent	Number	Percent	Cummulative Percent
0 to <5 years	5,527,420	33%	33%	2,921,800	36%	36%	2,605,620	30%	30%
5 to <10 years	3,802,050	23%	55%	1,957,220	24%	60%	1,844,830	21%	51%
10 to <15 years	2,684,620	16%	71%	1,323,430	16%	76%	1,361,190	16%	66%
15 to <20 years	1,855,780	11%	82%	843,970	10%	87%	1,011,810	12%	78%
20 to <25 years	1,198,320	7%	89%	491,980	6%	93%	706,340	8%	86%
25 to <30 years	773,770	5%	94%	290,450	4%	96%	483,320	6%	91%
30+ years	1,078,430	6%	100%	309,960	4%	100%	768,470	9%	100%

Note: Percentages may not sum to cumulative percentages due to rounding.

Source: Surveillance Research Program, Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences, National Cancer Institute.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

Table 2. Estimated Number of US Cancer Survivors by Sex and Age at Prevalance as of January 1, 2019

	Male and Female			Male			Female			
	Number	Percent	Cummulative Percent	Number	Percent	Cummulative Percent	Number	Percent	Cummulative Percent	
All ages	16,920,370			8,138,790			8,781,580			
0-14	65,850	<1%	<1%	32,300	<1%	<1%	33,550	<1%	<1%	
15-19	47,760	<1%	<1%	23,780	<1%	<1%	23,980	<1%	<1%	
20-29	194,360	1%	2%	93,540	1%	2%	100,820	1%	2%	
30-39	436,300	3%	4%	177,810	2%	4%	258,490	3%	5%	
40-49	969,450	6%	10%	351,970	4%	8%	617,490	7%	12%	
50-59	2,380,560	14%	24%	964,510	12%	20%	1,416,050	16%	28%	
60-69	4,466,900	26%	51%	2,185,200	27%	47%	2,281,700	26%	54%	
70-79	4,760,980	28%	79%	2,562,940	32%	79%	2,198,040	25%	79%	
80+	3,598,220	21%	100%	1,746,740	22%	100%	1,851,480	21%	100%	
0-19	113,610	<1%	<1%	56,090	<1%	<1%	57,520	<1%	<1%	
20-64	6,012,430	36%	36%	2,535,730	31%	32%	3,476,700	40%	40%	
65+	10,794,330	64%	100%	5,546,970	68%	100%	5,247,360	60%	100%	

Note: Percentages may not sum to cumulative percentages due to rounding.

Source: Surveillance Research Program, Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences, National Cancer Institute.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research



Figure 2. Distribution (%) of Survivors for Selected Cancers by Years Since Diagnosis and Age at Prevalence as of

Percents may not sum to 100% due to rounding.

0

2

4

Melanoma of the skin

Oral cavity & pharynx

Ovary

Prostate Testis

Thyroid

Urinary bladder

Uterine cervix

Uterine corpus

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

15

13

Source: Surveillance Research Program, Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences, National Cancer Institute.

40

Percent

46

28

25

20

17

19

31

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

80

10

15

100

60

Cancer Staging

Staging describes the extent or spread of cancer at the time of diagnosis and is used to determine treatment options. There are two major staging systems, although some cancers (e.g., lymphoma) have alternative staging. The TNM system is most often used by clinicians and is thus used to describe treatment patterns herein. This system is mainly based on three aspects of cancer: the size of the tumor (T) and/or whether it has grown to involve nearby areas; absence or presence of regional lymph node involvement (N); and absence or presence of distant metastases (M). Once the T, N, and M categories are determined, the tumor is assigned a stage of 0, I, II, III, or IV, with stage 0 referring to a cancer that is limited to the layer of cells in which it originated, stage I being early-stage invasive cancer, and stage IV generally being the most advanced stage (some cancers, such as testicular, do not have a stage IV). For some cancers (e.g., prostate, breast, thyroid), TNM alone does not determine the stage because information such as histologic grade, biomarkers, or even patient age influence stage.

A more simplified system called Summary Stage has historically been used by population-based cancer registries. Cancer that is present only in the original layer of cells where it developed is classified as in situ. If cancer cells have penetrated the original layer of tissue, the cancer is invasive and is categorized as localized (confined to the organ of origin), regional (spread to nearby tissues or lymph nodes in the area of the organ of origin), or distant (spread to distant organs or parts of the body) stage. This staging system is used herein to describe staging for prostate cancer because TNM information for the disease is largely incomplete in population-based cancer registry data.

Cancer Treatment and Common Side Effects

The goals of treatment are to "cure" the cancer, if possible; prolong survival; and provide the highest possible quality of life during and after treatment. Cancer is considered cured when a patient has no evidence of the disease, including recurrence; thus, it is not possible to know if the cancer is completely eradicated except in hindsight. Some cancers are not curable, often due to advanced stage. However, for some of these patients, the cancer can be treated as a chronic disease, such as for some metastatic breast cancers.

Cancer treatment can include localized therapies, such as surgery, radiation therapy, cryotherapy, and heat or chemical ablation, and/or systemic therapies (e.g., chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, immune therapy, and targeted therapy) used alone or in combination. Supportive therapies are additional treatments that do not directly treat cancer but are used to reduce side effects and address other patient and family quality of life concerns (e.g., medications to reduce nausea, protect against organ damage from chemotherapy or radiation, or stimulate blood cell production). For some slowgrowing cancers, the approach may be to defer immediate treatment and monitor the cancer over time (known as active surveillance). This approach is used for some less aggressive blood cancers and low-risk localized prostate cancer.

Radiation therapy is the use of high-energy beams or particles to kill cancer cells and may be delivered from a source outside the body (as in external beam radiation) or placed internally (e.g., brachytherapy). Systemic therapies are drugs that travel through the bloodstream, potentially affecting all parts of the body, and work using different mechanisms. For example, chemotherapy drugs generally attack cells that grow quickly. Hormonal therapy works by either blocking or decreasing the level of the body's natural hormones, which sometimes act to promote cancer growth. Targeted therapies work by attacking specific proteins on cancer cells (or nearby cells) that normally help them grow. Immunotherapy stimulates the patient's immune system to attack the cancer.

The management of physical and psychosocial symptoms and impairments related to cancer and its treatment is also an essential part of cancer care, affecting the delivery and completion of treatment and quality of life. These issues can adversely impact survivors' ability to return to regular activities and overall financial security following treatment.² Cancer rehabilitation can improve pain, functioning, and overall quality of life throughout every stage of the treatment process (see Cancer Rehabilitation, page 22).³ Side effects that arise during treatment improve afterward for many patients but persist for others.⁴ Late effects of treatment, such as lymphedema after breast cancer surgery, may arise months or even years later. Both the prevalence and severity of side effects vary from person to person by cancer type, the treatment received, and other factors. The most common side effects of cancer and its treatment are pain, fatigue, and emotional distress,⁴⁻⁶ although information on late and long-term side effects at the population level is limited. Efforts to facilitate surveillance of long-term and late effects by linking information on health-related quality of life and patient-reported outcomes with population-based cancer registry data are ongoing.⁷ General information on side effects of treatment for specific cancer types is described in Selected Cancers, page 6. Additional information on side effects, including patient tools to assist with monitoring effects as they arise, is available on cancer.org (visit cancer.org/treatment/ treatments-and-side-effects/physical-side-effects.html).

Cancer Survival and Access to Care

In this report, survival rates are presented in terms of relative cancer survival, which is the percentage of patients alive at a certain point in time after diagnosis, adjusted for normal life expectancy, and is conventionally presented using 5 years of follow-up. However, 5-year relative survival does not represent the proportion of patients who are cured because some cancer deaths continue to occur more than 5 years after diagnosis. See Sources of Statistics, page 36, for more information about the calculation of survival statistics herein.

Five-year relative cancer survival has improved over the past several decades for most cancer types. Many factors influence survival in addition to cancer type, including age and stage at diagnosis, treatment, insurance status, competing health conditions, and financial resources. Physician and patient factors, including attitudes, beliefs, preferences, and implicit or explicit biases, also influence treatment recommendations and delivery and likely contribute to survival differences.⁸ Access to high-quality cancer care increases the likelihood of survival, as well as





better patient quality of life. However, optimal cancer care is not universally available, resulting in disparities in stage at diagnosis, treatment, and outcomes for medically underserved populations, such as racial and ethnic minority groups, the uninsured or underinsured, rural populations, and the elderly. Access to quality cancer care can be limited by structural barriers (e.g., inadequate health insurance), complexities of the health care system, and access to transportation or other geographic limitations. Inadequate health insurance is a major barrier to receipt of timely and appropriate care.^{9, 10} For example, uninsured patients diagnosed with stage I colorectal cancer have lower survival than stage II colorectal cancer patients with private insurance (Figure 3). Racial/ethnic minorities are both more likely to be underinsured or uninsured and are also more likely to be diagnosed at a later stage for most cancer types (Figure 4). Recent studies have shown that insurance differences account for a substantial proportion of the survival disparity between black and white cancer patients after accounting for age, stage, and other clinical factors.^{11, 12}

Selected Cancers

This section contains information about initial treatment, survival, and common short- and long-term health effects for the most prevalent cancers. It is important to note that certain side effects of cancer treatment, such as pain and fatigue, and cognitive and functional impairments, including sexual dysfunction, are common regardless of cancer type. It is essential that survivors are monitored for such impairments after diagnosis and referred to appropriate rehabilitation services as needed (see Cancer Rehabilitation, page 22).

Breast (Female)

It is estimated that there were more than 3.8 million women living in the US with a history of invasive breast cancer as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 268,600 women will be newly diagnosed in 2019. The total number of survivors includes more than 150,000 women living with metastatic breast cancer, three-fourths of whom were originally diagnosed with stage I-III disease.¹³ Thirty-six percent of female breast cancer survivors are younger than 65 years of age, reflecting the relatively young median age at diagnosis (62 years of age).¹⁴

Treatment and survival

About half (49%) of women with stage I or II breast cancer undergo breast-conserving surgery (BCS, i.e., lumpectomy/partial mastectomy, in which only cancerous tissue plus a surrounding layer of normal tissue is removed) followed by radiation therapy, whereas mastectomy (surgical removal of the breast) followed by chemotherapy is most common among women with stage III disease (56%) (Figure 5). Women diagnosed with metastatic disease (stage IV) typically receive radiation and/or chemotherapy without surgery (56%), while 17% receive surgery alone or in combination with other treatments and 26% receive no chemotherapy (including immunotherapy or targeted drugs), radiation, or surgery (some of these patients, however, receive hormonal therapy). Long-term survival for stage I-II patients treated with BCS followed with radiation to the breast is the same as that for treatment with mastectomy alone.^{15, 16} However, some patients require mastectomy because of tumor characteristics, such as locally advanced stage, large or multiple tumors, or because they are unable to receive radiation treatment because of preexisting medical conditions, previous receipt of breast radiation, or other obstacles (e.g., limited transportation to treatment).

Despite equivalent survival when combined with radiation, BCS-eligible patients are increasingly electing mastectomy for a variety of reasons, including reluctance to undergo radiation therapy, fear of recurrence, recent advances in reconstructive procedures, and a desire for symmetry.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ Younger women (those under 40 years of age) and patients with larger and/or more aggressive tumors are more likely to undergo unilateral mastectomy (removal of the affected breast) or contralateral prophylactic mastectomy (CPM, the additional removal of the unaffected breast).²⁰ The percentage of surgically treated women with early-stage disease in one breast who undergo CPM has increased rapidly, from 10% in 2004 to 33% in 2012 among women ages 20-44 years and from 4% to 10% among those 45 years of age and older.²¹ Although CPM nearly eliminates the risk of developing a new breast cancer, it does not improve long-term breast cancer survival for the majority of women and is also associated with potential harms.²²⁻²⁴

Women who undergo mastectomy may elect to have breast reconstruction, either with a saline or silicone implant, tissue taken from elsewhere in the body, or a combination of the two. Discussions about breast reconstruction should begin prior to mastectomy because the reconstruction process sometimes begins during the mastectomy surgery. A recent large study found that in 2013, 41% of women with breast cancer who received mastectomies underwent immediate reconstructive procedures, more than double the proportion in 2004 (18%).²⁵ Part of the increase may reflect the parallel rise in women who undergo CPM, who are more likely to receive immediate reconstruction.^{19, 26}



Stage is based on the American Join Committee on Cancer's Cancer Staging Manual, 6th edition. Prostate is not included because adequate information on prostate specific antigen (PSA) and/or Gleason score, which are necessary for proper staging, was not available for many cases. SEER Summary stage distribution information is available on page 17. *Testicular cancer does not have a stage IV classification per AJCC, 6th edition. Source: North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR), 2018.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research





©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

The benefit and timing of systemic therapy, which may include chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, or targeted therapy, is dependent on multiple factors, such as the size of the tumor, the number of lymph nodes involved, and the presence of estrogen or progesterone hormone receptors (referred to as ER or PR positive tumors) and/or human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) overexpression on the cancer cells. Approximately two-thirds of breast cancers test positive for hormone receptors²⁷ and can be treated with hormonal therapy. For non-metastatic breast cancer, hormonal therapy may be started before surgery to shrink the cancer (neoadjuvant) but is more often started after other treatments are completed (adjuvant). For premenopausal women, tamoxifen for up to 10 years is standard; however, the combination of ovarian suppression and either tamoxifen or an aromatase inhibitor is recommended for those women with a high risk of recurrence.²⁸ For postmenopausal women, aromatase inhibitors are the preferred hormonal treatment. The decision to treat with an aromatase inhibitor beyond 5 years is individualized based on patient factors and the expected benefit from the reduction in risk of subsequent breast cancers. For example, patients who have had CPM would be expected to have limited benefit from extending treatment. Other

hormonal therapy drugs and/or targeted drugs (e.g., CDK4/6 inhibitors for hormone receptor-positive, HER2negative disease)²⁹ are available for treatment of advanced disease.

The overall 5-year relative survival for breast cancer in women is 90%.¹⁴ Five-year relative survival approaches 100% for women diagnosed with stage I breast cancer and declines to 26% for patients diagnosed with stage IV disease.³⁰ In addition to stage and age, other factors that influence breast cancer survival include tumor grade, hormone receptor status, and HER2 status. Female breast cancer survival has increased over time due to earlier detection from widespread mammography use and improvements in treatment, particularly for hormonereceptor positive and HER2 positive tumors.^{14, 31} However, compared to white women, black women remain less likely to be diagnosed at earlier stages (Figure 4) and have lower survival within each stage, with the largest disparity for stage III disease (76% in whites versus 63% in blacks).³⁰ These racial disparities are complex but are largely explained by socioeconomic disparities that result in less access to high-quality medical care,^{11, 32} as well as the higher incidence of comorbidities and aggressive tumor characteristics among black women.¹¹

Short- and long-term health effects

Lymphedema of the arm is swelling caused by removal of or damage to underarm lymph nodes during breast cancer surgery or radiation therapy that can develop soon after treatment or years later. It has been estimated that about 20% of women who undergo axillary lymph node dissection and about 6% of women who undergo sentinel lymph node biopsy will develop arm lymphedema.³³ Some evidence suggests that certain exercises, when supervised by a trained professional, and other forms of cancer rehabilitation may reduce the risk and lessen the severity of this condition.³⁴⁻³⁵

Other long-term local effects of surgical and radiation treatment include numbness, tingling, and tightness in the chest wall, arms, or shoulders. Some women have persistent nerve pain in the chest wall, armpit, and/or arm after surgery. Although this type of pain is often referred to as postmastectomy pain syndrome, it can occur after BCS as well. Recent studies suggest that about one-third of women develop persistent pain after breast cancer surgery or radiation therapy,³⁶ with younger women and those who underwent axillary lymph node dissection having higher risk.⁷

In addition, some breast cancer treatments increase the risk of cognitive impairment and systemic and psychological long-term and late effects. The American Society for Clinical Oncology recently issued guidelines for the prevention and monitoring of cardiovascular problems associated with some breast cancer treatments (e.g., high dose radiation therapy to the chest, HER2 targeted drugs).³⁸ Reports of sexual dysfunction are common in breast cancer survivors yet often go unaddressed.³⁹ Younger breast cancer patients may experience impaired fertility,⁴⁰ and survivors who undergo premature menopause are at increased risk of osteoporosis.⁴¹ Treatment with aromatase inhibitors, generally reserved for postmenopausal women, can also cause osteoporosis, as well as muscle pain and joint stiffness/pain,⁴² while tamoxifen treatment can slightly increase the risk of endometrial cancer (cancer of the lining of the uterus) and blood clots.⁴³ Hormonal treatments for breast cancer can also cause menopausal symptoms, such as hot flashes, night sweats, and vaginal

dryness, which can lead to pain during intercourse. Negative body image is an important concern in breast cancer patients, affecting an estimated 15% to 30% of long-term survivors, particularly those who receive mastectomy without reconstruction.⁴⁴

For more information about breast cancer, see *Breast Cancer Facts & Figures*, available online at cancer.org/ statistics.

Cancers in Children and Adolescents

It is estimated that there were 65,850 cancer survivors ages 0-14 years (children) and 47,760 survivors ages 15-19 years (adolescents) living in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 11,060 children and 4,990 adolescents will be diagnosed in 2019. Leukemia survivors account for about one-third of all cancer survivors younger than 20 years of age.¹⁴ When combined with adult survivors, there are close to 400,000 survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer, reflecting of the relatively high survival rates for many of these cancers in recent decades.⁴⁵

Treatment and survival

Pediatric cancers - those that most commonly occur in children – are often treated in specialized centers with a coordinated team of experts, including pediatric oncologists, surgeons, and nurses; social workers; child life specialists; and psychologists. It is usually most appropriate for adolescents diagnosed with pediatric cancers to be treated at pediatric facilities or by pediatric specialists rather than by adult-care specialists, partly because they are more likely to offer the opportunity for participation in clinical trials.⁴⁶ Studies have shown that adolescent patients diagnosed with acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) have better outcomes on pediatric than adult protocols.⁴⁷ However, teen patients with cancers that are more common among adults, such as breast, melanoma, testicular, and thyroid, may be more appropriately treated by adult-care specialists.⁴⁸

For all childhood and adolescent cancers combined, the 5-year relative survival rate increased from 58% during 1975-1977 to 84% during 2008-2014 among children and from 68% to 85% among adolescents, due to new and improved treatments.¹⁴ However, survival varies considerably depending on cancer type, patient age, and other characteristics. For example, the 5-year relative survival for some of the most common cancers in children is 98% for Hodgkin lymphoma and 91% for ALL but falls to 73% for brain and central nervous system tumors (excluding benign and borderline brain tumors) and 70% for rhabdomyosarcomas and osteosarcomas.

Short- and long-term health effects

People with a history of childhood or adolescent cancer can experience treatment-related side effects for the remainder of life. Aggressive treatments used for childhood cancers, especially in the 1970s and 1980s, have resulted in a number of late effects, including an increased risk of subsequent cancers. A large follow-up study of pediatric cancer survivors found that almost 10% developed a subsequent cancer (most commonly female breast, thyroid, and bone) over the 30-year period following initial diagnosis.⁴⁹ Another study found that 50% of these survivors had developed a severe or lifethreatening chronic health condition by 50 years of age.⁵⁰ More than half of children exposed to cancer treatments potentially toxic to the heart or lungs (e.g., chest radiation and anthracyclines) develop issues with these organs,⁵¹ and treatments affecting the reproductive organs may cause infertility in both male and female patients. In addition, persistent effects of childhood cancer may result in the failure to achieve social goals or mental health well-being comparable to that among peers without a cancer history.48

As a result, it is important that survivors of pediatric cancers are monitored for long-term and late effects. The Children's Oncology Group (COG), a National Cancer Institute-supported clinical trials group that cares for more than 90% of US children and adolescents diagnosed with cancer, has developed long-term follow-up guidelines for managing late effects in survivors of childhood cancer. Visit the COG website at survivorshipguidelines.org for more information on childhood cancer management. For detailed information on cancer in children and adolescents, see the special section of *Cancer Facts & Figures 2014*, available online at cancer.org/statistics.

Colon and Rectum

It is estimated that as of January 1, 2019, there were more than 1.5 million men and women living in the US with a previous colorectal cancer diagnosis, and an additional 145,600 cases will be diagnosed in 2019. Patients with rectal cancer tend to be younger at diagnosis than those with colon cancer (median age 63 versus 69, respectively).¹⁴ About three-fourths of colorectal cancer survivors are 65 years of age or older (Figure 2).

Treatment and survival

The majority of stage I and II colon cancer patients are treated with colectomy (surgical removal of all or part of the colon) without chemotherapy (84%), while those with stage III disease usually receive adjuvant chemotherapy (66%) (Figure 6). For rectal cancer, 61% of stage I patients have a proctectomy (surgical removal of the rectum) or proctocolectomy (removal of the rectum and all or part of the colon), about half of whom also receive radiation and/ or chemotherapy (Figure 7). In contrast to colon cancer, stage II and III rectal cancers are often treated with chemotherapy combined with radiation before surgery (neoadjuvant). Surgical treatment is possible for some stage IV colon and rectal cancers with limited spread to other organs (e.g., the liver). Chemotherapy is the most common treatment for metastatic colon or rectal cancer, and a number of targeted drugs are also available. Immunotherapy may be appropriate depending on the tumor's molecular characteristics.52

Patients undergoing surgery may need an ostomy, which is the creation of an abdominal opening, or stoma, for elimination of body waste. A stoma created from the large intestine is called a colostomy. In many cases, once the colon or rectum heals, the stoma is closed and the ends of the large intestine reconnected in a procedure called colostomy reversal. Rectal cancer patients require a colostomy more often than colon cancer patients (29% versus 12%, respectively).⁵³ A permanent colostomy may



Chemo = chemotherapy and includes targeted therapy and immunotherapy; Colectomy = surgical removal of all or part of the colon; Polypectomy = removal of a polyp; RT = radiation therapy. *A small number of these patients also receive radiation therapy. †Only a very small proportion of patients received RT alone. **Source:** National Cancer Data Base, 2016.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research



be required if the anus and the sphincter muscle are removed during surgery.

The 5-year survival rate is 91% for stage I colorectal cancer and 82% for stage II;³⁰ however, only 20% and 22% of patients, respectively, are diagnosed at these stages (Figure 4), in part due to the underuse of screening. Survival declines to 68% for stage III and 12% for stage IV disease. Overall 5-year survival is slightly higher for rectal (67%) versus colon cancer (64%).¹⁴

Short- and long-term health effects

Long-term survivors of colorectal cancer report good overall quality of life compared with that of the general population, but higher rates of depression.⁵⁴ About half of colorectal cancer survivors experience chronic diarrhea.⁵⁵ Bowel dysfunction (including increased stool frequency, incontinence, and perianal irritation) is common among rectal cancer survivors, especially those treated with pelvic radiation.^{56, 57} Rectal cancer survivors, particularly those with a colostomy, are more likely than colon cancer survivors to experience bladder dysfunction, sexual dysfunction, and negative body image.^{58, 59} A trained ostomy therapist can address many of these concerns, as well as issues that arise from colostomy care, such as skin irritation and dietary considerations.⁶⁰

Recurrence is not uncommon among colorectal cancer survivors,^{61, 62} although the exact percentage is unknown because population-based cancer registries do not collect these data. Colorectal cancer survivors are also at increased risk of additional new cancers (subsequent primary cancers) of the colon and rectum, as well as other cancer sites, especially those within the digestive system.⁶³

See *Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures*, available online at cancer.org/statistics, for more information about colorectal cancer.

Leukemia and Lymphoma

It is estimated that as of January 1, 2019, there were 451,700 people living with a history of leukemia in the US, and an additional 60,140 people will be diagnosed in 2019. Leukemias are classified into four main groups according to cancer cell type and rate of growth: acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL), chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma (CLL/SLL; also referred to herein simply as CLL), acute myeloid leukemia (AML), and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). In this report, CLL is included among leukemias for the purpose of reporting trends, although it is now recognized as a type of lymphoma.

Although leukemia is the most common cancer in children and adolescents combined, the vast majority (92%) of leukemia patients are diagnosed at 20 years of age and older.⁶⁴ AML and CLL are the most common types of leukemia diagnosed in adults, whereas ALL accounts for nearly 80% of leukemias in children and about half of those in adolescents. The median age at diagnosis is 15 for ALL, 65 for CML, 69 for AML, and 70 for CLL.¹⁴

Lymphomas are cancers that begin in cells of the immune system called lymphocytes. There are two major types of lymphomas: Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL). NHL can be further divided into indolent and aggressive categories, each of which includes many subtypes that progress and respond differently to treatment. It is estimated that as of January 1, 2019, there were 234,890 HL survivors and 757,710 NHL survivors, and that 8,110 and 74,200 new cases of HL and NHL, respectively, will be diagnosed in 2019. HL is one of the most common childhood and adolescent cancers; as a result, the median age at diagnosis for Hodgkin lymphoma (39 years) is substantially younger than that for NHL (67 years of age).¹⁴

Treatment and survival

AML. Acute myeloid leukemia (also called acute myelogenous leukemia) arises from blood-forming cells, progresses quickly, and is rapidly fatal in the absence of treatment. The standard treatment for AML is two phases of chemotherapy. The first phase, called induction, is designed to clear all evidence of leukemia cells from the blood and bone marrow, putting the disease into complete remission. The goal of the second phase, called consolidation, is to kill any remaining leukemia cells that cannot be seen and would cause relapse if left untreated. Many older adults (among whom the disease is most common) are not able to tolerate the most aggressive and effective regimens.⁶⁵ Appropriate treatment is influenced by the patient's age and health, as well as the molecular characteristics of the cancer. Some patients undergo allogeneic stem cell transplantation (in which the transplanted cells come from a donor whose tissue type closely matches the patient's) after receiving chemotherapy, alone or with radiation, as part of a conditioning regimen. A number of targeted drugs are also now available. Additional information on the treatment of AML, as well the subtype acute promyelocytic leukemia, is available from cancer.org (cancer.org/cancer/acute-myeloid-leukemia/ treating.html).

Approximately 60% to 85% of adults 60 years of age and younger with AML can expect to attain complete remission following the first phase of treatment, and 35% to 40% of patients in this age group will be cured.^{65,66} In contrast, 40% to 60% of patients older than 60 years of age will achieve complete remission, and only 5% to 15% will be cured. About 4% of AML cases occur in children and adolescents (ages 0-19 years),⁶⁴ for whom the prognosis is substantially better than among adults. The 5-year relative survival is 67% for children and adolescents, but declines to 54%, 32%, and 7% for patients ages 20-49, 50-64 years, and ages 65 years and older, respectively.³⁰

CML. Chronic myeloid leukemia (also called chronic myelogenous leukemia) is a type of cancer that starts in the blood-forming cells of the bone marrow and invades the blood. Once suspected, CML is usually easily diagnosed because the involved cells contain the BCR-ABL gene, typically found within an abnormal chromosome known as the Philadelphia chromosome. There are three phases of CML: chronic, accelerated, and blast. The chronic phase is the least aggressive and is characterized by no or mild symptoms; the accelerated phase has noticeable symptoms, such as fever, poor appetite, and fatigue; and the blast phase is the most aggressive and has more severe symptoms and may rapidly lead to death.

The standard treatments for CML are targeted drugs (e.g., imatinib), which are very effective at inducing remission and decreasing progression to the accelerated phase. In the past, it was thought that these drugs had to be taken indefinitely to keep the disease in check; however, recent studies have found they can be safely discontinued in a subset of patients.⁶⁷ If the leukemia becomes resistant to one tyrosine kinase inhibitor, another may be tried. For cancers that are resistant to tyrosine kinase inhibitors, chemotherapy or stem cell transplantation may be used. In part due to the discovery of these targeted therapies, the 5-year survival rate for CML has more than doubled over the past 25 years, from 31% for those diagnosed during 1990-1992 to 69% for those diagnosed during 2008-2014.¹⁴

ALL. Acute lymphocytic leukemia (also called acute lymphoblastic leukemia) is a disease in which too many immature lymphocytes (a type of white blood cell) are produced in the bone marrow. More than half (54%) of all ALL cases are diagnosed in patients younger than 20 years of age.⁶⁴ The disease typically progresses rapidly without treatment, which is generally delivered in three phases and consists of 4-6 weeks of induction chemotherapy (given to induce remission and often administered in the hospital), followed by several months of consolidation (or

intensification) therapy, and 2-3 years of maintenance chemotherapy.⁶⁸ Some ALL patients have a chromosomal abnormality similar to that in CML and benefit from the addition of a tyrosine kinase inhibitor. More than 95% of children and 78%-92% of adults with ALL attain remission. Stem cell transplantation is recommended for some patients whose leukemia has high-risk characteristics at diagnosis and for those who relapse after remission. It may also be used if the leukemia does not go into remission after successive courses of induction chemotherapy. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy, which genetically modifies the patient's immune system to fight the cancer, is also an option for patients with a specific subtype of ALL who have relapsed or not responded to other treatments.⁶⁹

Survival rates for patients with ALL have increased rapidly over the past 3 decades, particularly among children.¹⁴ In addition, the black-white 5-year survival disparity for children with ALL has declined from a 16 percentage point difference during 1980-1982 (55% versus 71%, respectively) to an 8 percentage point difference during 2008-2014 (85% versus 93%, respectively).⁶⁶ Survival dramatically declines with increasing age; the current 5-year survival rate is 89% for ages 0 to 19 years, 47% for ages 20 to 49 years, 28% for ages 50 to 64 years, and 17% for those 65 years of age and older.³⁰

CLL/SLL. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma is characterized by the overabundance of mature lymphocytes in the blood and bone marrow. It usually progresses slowly and is most commonly diagnosed in older adults. Treatment is not likely to cure and is generally reserved for symptomatic patients or those who have low counts of normal (nonleukemic) blood cells or other complications. For patients with early disease, active surveillance (carefully monitoring over time for disease progression) is a common approach. For patients with more advanced disease, available treatments, which include chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and/or targeted therapies, can delay the progression of disease, but may not extend survival.⁷⁰⁻⁷² CAR-T cell immunotherapy has also been used in patients with disease that has relapsed or not responded to other treatments.⁶⁹ The overall 5-year relative survival for CLL is 84%, although



there is a large variation among individual patients, ranging from several months to normal life expectancy.³⁰

HL. Hodgkin lymphoma is a cancer of the lymph nodes that often starts in the neck, chest, or abdomen. It can be diagnosed at any age, but is most common in early adulthood (about one-third of cases are diagnosed between ages 20 and 34 years). There are two major types of HL. Classical HL is the most common and is distinguishable by the presence of Reed Sternberg cells. Nodular lymphocyte-predominant HL (NLPHL) is rare, comprising only about 5% of cases, and is a more slowgrowing disease with a generally favorable prognosis.⁷³

Classical HL is usually treated with multi-agent chemotherapy, sometimes in combination with radiation therapy, although the use of radiotherapy is declining.⁷⁴ If initial treatment is not effective, a different chemotherapy regimen may be tried, sometimes followed by autologous ("patient's own") stem cell transplantation. Other treatment options include radiation or the targeted drug brentuximab vedotin. For patients with NLPHL, radiation therapy alone may be appropriate for early-stage disease.⁷³ For those with later-stage disease, chemotherapy plus radiation, as well as the monoclonal antibody rituximab, may be recommended. Five-year survival for all HL combined is 86%, and is higher for NLPHL than for classical HL – 93% versus 83%, respectively.³⁰

NHL. There are multiple types of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, with the most common types being diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), representing about 4 in 10 cases, and follicular lymphoma, representing 2 in 10 cases.⁶⁴ Although DLBCL grows quickly, most patients with localized disease and about 50% with advanced disease are cured with treatment.^{75,76} In contrast to most cancers, initial treatment is generally similar across stage, although radiation therapy alone is typically used only in certain cases of early-stage disease.77 Most DLBCL patients receive chemotherapy (82%), either with (43%) or without (39%) immunotherapy (such as rituximab) (Figure 8).⁷⁸ About 14% receive no initial treatment, although the percentage is higher for stage I versus stage IV (19% versus 14%, respectively) disease.⁷⁴ Follicular lymphomas tend to grow slowly and often do not require treatment until symptoms develop, but are generally not curable.79 Some cases of follicular lymphoma transform into DLBCL. If NHL persists or recurs after standard treatment, stem cell transplantation or CAR T-cell therapy may be an option. Five-year survival is 88% for follicular lymphoma and 63% for DLBCL.30

Short- and long-term health effects

Some survivors, such as those who received stem cell transplant, have recurrent infections and low blood cell counts that may require blood transfusions. In addition, allogeneic (i.e., donor cells) transplantation for acute leukemias may lead to chronic graft-versus-host disease, which can cause skin changes, dry mucous membranes (eyes, mouth, vagina), joint pain, weight loss, shortness of breath, and fatigue.⁸⁰

Leukemia treatment regimens that involve anthracyclines can have heart-damaging effects. Chest radiation for Hodgkin lymphoma also increases the risk for various heart complications (e.g., valvular heart disease and coronary artery disease), as well as breast cancer among women treated during childhood or adolescence.^{81,82} Certain chemotherapy drugs, as well as high-dose chemotherapy used with stem cell transplant, can lead to infertility. In the past, most children with ALL received cranial radiation therapy, which is associated with long-term cognitive deficits.⁸³ This treatment is used less frequently and in lower dosages today.

Lung and Bronchus

It is estimated that there were 517,350 men and women living in the US with a history of lung cancer as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 228,150 cases will be diagnosed in 2019. The median age at diagnosis for lung cancer is $70.^{14}$

Treatment and survival

Lung cancer is classified as small cell (13% of cases) or non-small cell (83%) for the purposes of treatment (3% of cases are unclassified).⁶⁴ Depending on type and stage of cancer, treatment may include surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, targeted therapies, and/or immunotherapy.

Because small cell lung cancer (SCLC) is rarely truly localized at diagnosis, surgical resection plays little role in treatment. The main treatment for SCLC is chemotherapy.⁷⁴ In addition, some patients also receive radiation to the chest, which may be given concurrently with chemotherapy. Some patients receive prophylactic cranial radiation therapy to help prevent development of brain metastases. More recently, the addition of an immune checkpoint inhibitor to chemotherapy has been shown to improve survival in advanced SCLC.⁸⁴

The majority (56%) of stage I and II NSCLC patients undergo surgery, which usually involves partial (wedge resection) or total (lobectomy) removal of the affected lobe, or partial removal of the affected airway (sleeve resection). (Figure 9). In contrast, only 18% of patients with stage III NSCLC undergo surgery while most (63%) are treated with chemotherapy and/or radiation. Only a very small proportion of all NSCLC patients undergo pneumonectomy (removal of the entire lung), with or without chemotherapy and/or radiation.⁷⁴ There are a number of targeted and immunotherapy drugs available to treat advanced NSCLC, but some are only useful in treating cancers with certain genetic mutations. In 2016, about 12% of newly diagnosed stage IV NSCLC patients received immunotherapy.⁷⁴

The 5-year relative survival for lung cancer is 19%.¹⁴ Because symptoms usually do not appear until the disease has spread to other parts of the body, only about 1 in 5 lung cancer patients are diagnosed with stage I disease (Figure 4), for which 5-year survival is 57%.³⁰ Five-year



Source: National Cancer Data Base, 2016.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

survival for SCLC (6%) is lower than that for NSCLC (23%) for all stages combined as well for each stage.¹⁴

Short- and long-term health effects

Many lung cancer survivors have impaired lung function (especially if they have had surgery and/or had preexisting lung problems due to smoking) and may require long-term supplemental oxygen.⁸⁵ In some cases respiratory therapy and medications can improve fitness and allow these survivors to resume normal daily activities. Lung cancer survivors who are current or former smokers are at increased risk for subsequent lung cancers and other smoking-related cancers, especially head and neck or urinary tract cancers. Survivors may feel stigmatized because of the social perception that lung cancer is a self-inflicted disease, which can be particularly difficult for those who never smoked.⁸⁶

Melanoma of the Skin

It is estimated that there were more than 1.3 million melanoma survivors living in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 96,480 people will be diagnosed in 2019. Women tend to be diagnosed at a younger age than men (60 versus 66 years of age, respectively), reflecting differences by sex and age in occupational and recreational exposure to ultraviolet radiation, as well as frequency of health care interactions. Nearly half of all melanoma survivors (47%) are younger than age 65 (Figure 2).

Treatment and survival

Surgery to remove the tumor and surrounding tissue is the primary treatment for nonmetastatic melanoma. Patients with stage III melanoma usually also have nearby lymph nodes removed and may be offered immunotherapy after surgery or, if their melanoma contains a BRAF V600 mutation (about half of all skin melanomas), a combination of targeted drugs. Treatment for patients with stage IV melanoma has changed in recent years and typically includes these new immunotherapy and targeted drugs.⁸⁷ Several targeted drugs for metastatic melanoma with BRAF/MEK mutations have been shown to improve survival.^{88,89} Among patients with metastatic disease who receive either chemotherapy or immunotherapy, 39% also receive radiation therapy. 74

The 5-year relative survival rate for melanoma is 92%.¹⁴ More than half (55%) of melanomas are diagnosed at stage I (Figure 4), for which the 5-year relative survival approaches 100%.³⁰ However, for patients diagnosed with stage IV disease, 5-year survival declines to 19%.

Short- and long-term health effects

Depending on the size and location of the melanoma, removal can be disfiguring. Patients with several lymph nodes removed during surgery may develop lymphedema. Immunotherapy drugs used to treat melanoma can cause a number of side effects, including inflammation of the lungs, colon, or kidneys, and endocrine disorders (e.g., hypothyroidism and adrenal insufficiency). In addition, men and women who are survivors of melanoma are nearly 13 and 16 times, respectively, more likely than the general population to develop additional melanomas due to skin type and other genetic risk factors and/or overexposure to ultraviolet radiation.⁹⁰ Thus, it is important for survivors to monitor their skin and limit sun exposure.

Prostate

It is estimated that there were more than 3.6 million men with a history of prostate cancer living in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 174,650 men will be diagnosed in 2019. The vast majority (81%) of prostate cancer survivors are 65 years of age or older (Figure 2). The median age at diagnosis is 66 years.¹⁴

Treatment and survival

Treatment options vary depending on stage of the cancer, as well as patient characteristics such as age, other medical conditions, and personal preferences. Highquality, national data on prostate cancer treatment patterns are limited, particularly for hormonal (referred to as androgen deprivation therapy, or ADT) and radiation therapies. Active surveillance rather than immediate treatment is a commonly recommended approach for low-risk, localized cancer.⁹¹⁻⁹³ In a recent analysis of cancer registry data, active surveillance for low-risk disease increased from 15% to 42% from 2010 to 2015 among men of all ages combined, while radical prostatectomy (removal of the prostate) declined from 47% to 31%.⁹⁴ Previous studies have suggested that the increase in active surveillance is most pronounced among men 75 years of age and older.⁹⁵

Higher-risk disease may be treated with radical prostatectomy, radiation therapy, ADT, or a combination thereof. Advanced prostate cancer may be treated with ADT, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and/or other treatments. Cancers that have metastasized to or are likely to spread to the bone may be treated with bone-directed therapy to prevent fractures and slow cancer spread. ADT is generally the first treatment used for advanced disease and can often control the cancer for long periods, also helping to relieve pain and other symptoms. For men with advanced cancers that stop responding to traditional ADT, newer drugs that block or lower testosterone or lower testosterone further may be effective.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁹

Over the past 35 years, the 5-year relative survival rate for all stages combined has increased from 68% to 99%.¹⁴ However, it is unknown how much of the increase is due to detection of indolent disease, which would never cause harm, via screening with the prostate specific antigen test. Most (90%) prostate cancers are diagnosed in the local or regional stages, for which the 5-year relative survival rate approaches 100%. (Summary stage is presented because TNM staging information is incomplete for a large proportion of prostate cancer cases in cancer registry data. See Cancer Staging, page 4).

Short- and long-term health effects

Although survival rates are favorable for patients with early-stage disease treated with surgery or radiotherapy (with or without ADT), both are associated with substantial risk of physical impairment (sexual, urinary, and bowel).^{100, 101} Many prostate cancer survivors who have been treated with surgery or radiation experience incontinence, erectile dysfunction, and/or bowel complications, which may be permanent.¹⁰² Sexual counseling in this population can be helpful in restoring comfort with intimacy.³⁹ Patients receiving hormonal treatment may experience loss of libido, hot flashes, night sweats, irritability, and mild breast development. Hormonal therapy also increases the risk of anemia, osteoporosis, and metabolic syndrome, and may increase the risk of cardiovascular disease and depression.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵

Testis

It is estimated that there were 287,780 testicular cancer survivors in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 9,560 men will be diagnosed in 2019. Testicular germ cell tumors (TGCTs) account for more than 97% of testicular cancers.⁶⁴ These tumors arise from cells that normally develop into sperm cells. The median age at diagnosis for testicular cancer is 33,¹⁴ much younger than most other cancers.

TGCTs are categorized based on cell type as seminomas (55%), nonseminomas (13%), or mixed (28%).⁶⁴ Nonseminomas generally occur among younger men (in their late teens to early 40s) and, along with mixed tumors, tend to be more aggressive. Seminomas are slow-growing and are most often diagnosed in men in their late 30s to early 50s.

Treatment and survival

Treatment of almost all TGCTs begins with surgery to remove the testicle in which the tumor developed. Most (71%) stage I seminomas are treated with surgery without chemotherapy or radiation, whereas most stage II patients receive surgery followed by chemotherapy (60%), radiation (24%), or both (1%) (Figure 10). Over the past decade, postsurgery active surveillance has become an increasingly preferred management option for patients with stage I seminomas,¹⁰⁶ and long-term study results support this treatment strategy.¹⁰⁷ Stage III seminomas are usually treated with surgery followed by chemotherapy alone (67%) (Figure 10).

Although mixed tumors include both cell types, treatment is similar to nonseminomas due to their shared higher risk of progression. Treatment for men with nonseminomas may involve retroperitoneal lymph node dissection (RPLND), which may be recommended after surgery in high-risk cases to reduce the likelihood of





Source: National Cancer Data Base, 2010.

recurrence. For men with stage I nonseminomas, more than half (57%) are treated with surgery alone, whereas the majority of stage II patients receive additional treatment after surgery, including chemotherapy (50%); RPLND (10%); or both (31%) (Figure 11). Men with metastatic nonseminomas are usually treated with chemotherapy after surgery, with or without RPLND.

Testicular cancer survival has increased substantially since the mid-1970s, largely due to the success of

chemotherapy regimens for advanced disease. The 5-year relative survival for all testicular cancers combined is 99%.¹⁴ However, survival is lower for nonseminomas (90%) than for mixed TGCTs (94%) and seminomas (99%), regardless of age.³⁰ Most testicular cancers (63%) are diagnosed at stage I because of a lump on the testicle (Figure 4); 5-year relative survival for this stage approaches 100%.³⁰ Even cancers diagnosed at stage III may be successfully treated, with a 5-year relative survival of 74%.

^{©2019,} American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

Short- and long-term health effects

Although most men with one healthy testicle produce sufficient male hormones and sperm to continue sexual relations and father children, consultation about fertility risks and sperm banking is recommended prior to treatment if fertility is not already impaired.⁴⁰ When cancer occurs in both testicles, lifelong hormone replacement is required. Men treated with chemotherapy are also at increased risk of coronary artery disease as they age and should be particularly mindful of additional risk factors such as high cholesterol, high blood pressure, obesity, and smoking.

Thyroid

It is estimated that there were 900,590 people (195,540 men and 705,050 women) living with a past diagnosis of thyroid cancer in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 52,070 cases will be diagnosed in 2019. Thyroid cancer commonly occurs at a younger age than most other adult cancers, with a median age at diagnosis of 55 for males and 50 for females.¹⁴ Incidence rates are 3 times higher in women than in men.

Treatment and survival

Most thyroid cancers are either papillary or follicular carcinomas, both of which are highly curable. About 3% of thyroid cancers are either medullary or anaplastic carcinoma,⁶⁴ which tend to be more difficult to treat because they do not respond to radioactive iodine treatment.¹⁰⁸ These types of thyroid cancer also typically grow more quickly and have often metastasized by the time of diagnosis.

The first choice of treatment in nearly all cases is surgery, with patients receiving either total (81%) or partial (15%) thyroidectomy (removal of the thyroid gland).⁷⁴ More than half of surgically treated patients with welldifferentiated (papillary or follicular) thyroid cancer receive radioactive iodine (I-131) after surgery to destroy any remaining thyroid tissue.¹⁰⁹ If the thyroid has been removed completely, thyroid hormone replacement therapy is required to maintain normal metabolism, and is often given in doses high enough to keep the body from making thyroid-stimulating hormone to decrease the likelihood of cancer recurrence.

Total thyroidectomy is the main treatment for patients with medullary carcinoma of the thyroid, as I-131 is not absorbed by the cancer cells. External beam radiation therapy may be offered after surgery for cancers with a high risk of local or regional recurrence.¹¹⁰ For medullary carcinomas that cannot be treated with surgery, targeted drugs or chemotherapy may be offered. Anaplastic thyroid cancers are often widespread at the time of diagnosis, making surgery difficult or impossible. Radiation therapy and/or chemotherapy may be used to treat these cancers, as well as targeted drugs for cancers with BRAF mutations, but response rates are generally poor.

The 5-year relative survival rate for thyroid cancer is 98% overall,¹⁴ 90% for medullary carcinoma, and 7% for anaplastic carcinoma.³⁰ Five-year survival for stages I, II, and III disease approaches 100%, but is 71% for those diagnosed with stage IV tumors.

Short- and long-term health effects

Thyroid cancer surgery can damage nerves to the larynx and lead to voice changes.¹¹¹ In addition, patients requiring thyroid hormone replacement therapy must have their hormone levels monitored to prevent hypothyroidism, which can cause cold intolerance and weight gain. For those treated with I-131, there is a low risk of temporary loss of or change in taste, as well as early- or late-onset effects such as dry mouth, dental caries, and damage to the salivary glands, which may also include difficulty swallowing. About 25% of medullary thyroid cancers are related to hereditary type 2 multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN2) syndromes; these patients may be screened for other cancers and referred for genetic counseling and possible testing.¹⁰⁸

Urinary Bladder

It is estimated that there were 829,620 urinary bladder cancer survivors living in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 80,470 cases will be diagnosed in 2019. The majority of bladder cancer survivors are men, reflecting the fact that bladder cancer incidence is about 3 times higher in men than in women. The median age at diagnosis is 72.¹⁴

Treatment and survival

Treatment of urinary bladder cancer varies by tumor stage and patient age. More than 70% of patients with bladder cancer are diagnosed with non-muscle-invasive disease (i.e., stages 0-I, including both in situ and invasive cancer that is present only in the very inner layers of bladder cells).⁶⁴ Stage 0 urinary bladder cancer is further divided into noninvasive papillary carcinoma, which can have a high or low risk of progression, and carcinoma in situ, which is generally high risk. Most non-muscleinvasive bladder cancer patients are diagnosed and treated with a minimally invasive procedure called transurethral resection of the bladder tumor (TURBT) (Figure 12). This endoscopic surgery may be followed by intravesical treatment (injected directly into the bladder) with either a chemotherapy drug or immunotherapy with bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG). Among patients with stage 0 disease, those with carcinoma in situ are substantially more likely to receive BCG immunotherapy than those with papillary carcinoma in situ (38% versus 13%, respectively).74

For muscle-invasive disease (stages II-IV), surgery may involve cystectomy, in which all or part of the bladder is removed, along with the surrounding fatty tissue and lymph nodes. Nearly one-third (30%) of stage II patients and about two-thirds (68%) of stage III patients receive cystectomy, with or without chemotherapy and/or radiation (Figure 12). In appropriately selected muscleinvasive cases, TURBT followed by combined chemotherapy and radiation is as effective as cystectomy at preventing recurrence.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ Chemotherapy is usually the first treatment for cancers that have spread to other organs, but other treatments might be used as well. In recent years, immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors has become an important treatment option for advanced cancers, either following or in place of chemotherapy.

For all stages combined, the 5-year relative survival rate is 77%.¹⁴ Stage 0 urinary bladder cancer is diagnosed in 47% of cases (Figure 4), for which 5-year survival is 95%.³⁰

Short- and long-term health effects

Posttreatment surveillance is crucial given the high rate of bladder cancer recurrence (ranging from 50%-90%).^{115, 116} Surveillance can include cystoscopy (examination of the bladder with a small scope), urine cytology, and other urine tests for tumor markers. Patients with muscle-invasive



RT = radiation therapy; Cystectomy = surgery that removes all or part of the bladder, as well as the surrounding fatty tissue and lymph nodes; TURBT = transurethral resection of the bladder tumor; Chemo = chemotherapy and includes targeted therapy but does not include immunotherapy, which is shown in the inset. *These patients may have received a surgical diagnostic procedure to determine staging.
Source: National Cancer Data Base, 2016.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

disease may have additional tests, such as computed tomography scans of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis.

Partial cystectomy results in a smaller bladder, sometimes causing more frequent urination. Patients undergoing cystectomy in which the entire bladder is removed require urinary diversion with either a "new" bladder (known as a neobladder), created by connecting a small part of the intestine to the urethra, or a urostomy, which is a tube that empties into a bag worn outside of the abdomen or uses an internal valve (requiring selfcatheterization). Those with a neobladder retain most of their urinary continence after appropriate rehabilitation.¹¹⁷ However, creation of a neobladder remains much less common than a urostomy (9% versus 91%), largely due to the fact that the procedure is technically complex and often only offered at large hospitals with experienced surgeons.¹¹⁸ Younger, healthier patients and those who are male are also more likely to undergo the procedure. Most patients with muscle-invasive disease treated with TURBT combined with chemotherapy and radiotherapy maintain full bladder function and good quality of life.¹¹⁹ However, these patients require careful surveillance with regular cystoscopy and a complete cystectomy if the cancer recurs.

Uterine Corpus

It is estimated that there were 807,860 uterine corpus cancer survivors living in the US as of January 1, 2019, and an additional 61,880 women will be diagnosed in 2019. Uterine cancer is the second most prevalent cancer among female cancer survivors, following breast cancer. More than 90% of cases occur in the endometrium (lining of the uterus); the majority of the remaining cases are uterine sarcomas.⁶⁴ The median age at diagnosis is 62.¹⁴

Treatment and survival

Uterine cancers are usually treated with surgery, radiation, hormonal therapy, and/or chemotherapy, depending on stage and cancer type. Surgery consists of hysterectomy (removal of the uterus, including the cervix), often along with bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (removal of both ovaries and fallopian tubes). Surgery without chemotherapy or radiation is used to treat most (72%) patients with stage I disease (Figure 13). About two-thirds (67%) of stage II patients and 77% of stage III patients receive surgery followed by radiation and/or chemotherapy (Figure 13). Clinical trials are currently assessing the most appropriate regimen of radiation, hormone therapy, and chemotherapy for women with metastatic or recurrent endometrial cancers.



Chemo = chemotherapy and includes targeted therapy and immunotherapy drugs; RT = radiation therapy. *Some of these patients may have received hormonal therapy. **Source:** National Cancer Data Base, 2016.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

The 5-year relative survival for cancer of the uterine corpus is 81%.¹⁴ About 6 in 10 cases are diagnosed at stage I (usually because of postmenopausal bleeding) (Figure 4), for which the 5-year survival is 96%.³⁰ The 5-year survival for white women (83%) is substantially higher than for black women (62%) for all stages combined, and is also higher for each stage.¹⁴

Short- and long-term health effects

Any hysterectomy causes infertility, and bilateral salpingooophorectomy causes menopause in premenopausal women, which can result in symptoms such as hot flashes, night sweats, vaginal dryness, and osteoporosis. Sexual problems are commonly reported among uterine cancer survivors.^{39, 120} Removing lymph nodes in the pelvis can lead to a buildup of fluid in the legs (lymphedema) that may worsen with radiation.¹²¹

Navigating the Cancer Experience: Treatment and Supportive Care

Newly diagnosed cancer patients and their loved ones face numerous challenges and difficult decisions immediately after diagnosis. The following section provides information and resources for newly diagnosed patients, as well as information regarding supportive care and transitioning to long-term survivorship.

Making Decisions about Cancer Care

Choosing a Doctor and Treatment Facility

Typically, the doctor who diagnoses the cancer will recommend appropriate specialists, including specialized surgeons, medical oncologists, hematologists, and radiation oncologists. Some cancers, such as skin and prostate, may be treated by clinicians who specialize in specific body systems (i.e., dermatologists and urologists, respectively) rather than oncologists.

Help with choosing a doctor and treatment center, as well as information to prepare patients for meeting with their treatment team for the first time, is available from cancer.org. See Choosing Your Treatment Team for more information (cancer.org/treatment/finding-and-paying-fortreatment/choosing-your-treatment-team.html).

Choosing among Recommended Treatments

Patients and family members may want to educate themselves about treatment options so they can be informed participants in treatment decisions. Helpful information is available online at prepareforyourcare.org to assist patients and families in communicating with each other and their care team. Visit cancer.org/treatment for a list of questions to ask when choosing among recommended treatment options, along with other information. For specific treatment information by cancer type, visit cancer.org/cancer.html. It is important that treatment decisions take patients' preferences, needs, and desires into account, making discussion about these a fundamental part of the decision-making process.

Cancer Rehabilitation

Cancer survivors' ability to function and quality of life may be significantly reduced because of preexisting medical conditions, the cancer itself, or side effects of cancer treatment. Examples of impairments include muscular weakness or paralysis, swallowing or speech problems, lymphedema (swelling caused by removal of or damage to lymph nodes), and physical disability as a result of major surgery. It is important to identify preexisting conditions as soon as possible after diagnosis and identify worsening or new issues all along the care continuum.³ Cancer rehabilitation often involves an interdisciplinary approach and focuses on the diagnosis and treatment of specific cognitive and physical difficulties that are best addressed by qualified specialists such as physiatrists, who specialize in rehabilitation medicine, and physical, occupational, and speech therapists. For

some patients, providing "pre-habilitation," or targeted interventions before treatment begins, may also be useful for improving physical and emotional recovery.¹²² However, despite the high occurrence of cancer-related disability, rehabilitation is largely underutilized even for readily treatable impairments, with receipt among survivors ranging from 1%-2%.¹²³ As such, improving access to and use of rehabilitation among survivors has been identified as a priority for several organizations, including the American Cancer Society.

Psychosocial Care

Cancer patients may have preexisting psychological or psychiatric conditions that impede their ability to cope with cancer, while other patients may develop psychological distress after diagnosis.¹²⁴ Up to one-half of cancer patients show a significant level of distress.¹²⁵ Early evaluation and screening for distress leads to early and timely management of symptoms, which in turn improves adherence to treatment, communication between patient and medical team, and fewer calls and visits to the oncologists' office. Evidence from randomized trials shows that psychological interventions in cancer patients with distress may lead to a survival advantage over those who do not receive psychosocial care.¹²⁴ However, less than half of distressed patients with cancer are identified and referred for psychosocial help. Barriers to distress management include under-recognition of psychological symptoms by both patients and provider teams, lack of knowledge regarding community resources, and perceived stigma associated with psychological distress. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network's Distress Management panel has proposed recommendations for recognizing and managing distress in cancer patients.¹²⁴

Palliative Care

The goal of palliative care is to alleviate symptoms associated with cancer and its treatment, such as pain, other physical symptoms, and emotional distress, with a specific focus on using family and patient communication to determine care goals.¹²⁶ Similar to cancer rehabilitation, palliative care improves quality of life for cancer patients and their families and has also been shown to improve survival when combined with other treatments.¹²⁷ It is increasingly recommended alongside curative treatment for all newly diagnosed cancer patients, regardless of stage. Palliative care is provided in a variety of settings, including hospitals and community cancer centers, long-term care facilities, during hospice care, and even in the home. However, palliative care remains substantially underutilized in the United States; in one large study, only 10% of patients with solid tumors received palliative care.¹²⁸

The American Cancer Society's nonprofit, nonpartisan advocacy affiliate, the American Cancer Society Cancer Action NetworkSM, is working to improve access to palliative care for all adults and children facing cancer and other serious illnesses. Visit acscan.org/qualityoflife and patientqualityoflife.org for more information. Visit the American Cancer Society website at cancer.org/treatment/ treatments-and-side-effects/palliative-care.html and getpalliativecare.org to learn more about palliative care or to find palliative care professionals.

Transitioning to Long-term Survivorship

After primary treatment ends, most cancer patients transition to the recovery phase of survivorship. Challenges during this time may include the lingering effects of illness and treatment (e.g., fatigue, pain, bowel or bladder changes, sexual dysfunction); worry about recurrence; difficulty returning to former roles, such as that of parent or employee; anxiety about medical bills (see Financial Hardship among Cancer Survivors, page 26); and decisions about which provider to see for various health care needs. Regular medical care following primary cancer treatment is important because of the potential for lingering effects of treatment, as well as the risk of recurrence and additional cancer diagnoses. The American Cancer Society has begun to issue evidenceand consensus-based comprehensive survivorship care guidelines to aid primary care and other clinicians in addressing these and other concerns in adult survivorship care.^{35, 60, 129, 130}

In 2006, the Institute of Medicine's Committee on Cancer Survivorship published a report highlighting the need for strategies to improve the coordination of ongoing care for survivors.¹³¹ A follow-up report recommended that patients and their primary care providers be given a summary of their treatment and a comprehensive survivorship care plan developed by one or more members of the oncology team.^{132, 133} A recent metaanalysis reported that survivorship care plans did not improve quality of life outcomes, but could improve information received, care satisfaction, and receipt of recommended care; counseling to discuss the plan was important.¹³⁴ Research is ongoing to identify how to optimize the transition into long-term survivorship.

Long-term Survivorship

The following section discusses common issues related to quality of life, risk of recurrence and subsequent cancers, and health behaviors of cancer survivors. Survivors are remarkably resilient, but some may have to make physical, emotional, social, and spiritual adjustments to their lifestyle – in other words, to find a "new normal."

Quality of Life

Quality of life is a broad multidimensional concept that considers a person's physical, emotional, social, and spiritual well-being. Approximately 1 in 4 cancer survivors report a decreased quality of life due to physical problems and 1 in 10 due to emotional problems.¹³⁵ Physical well-being is the degree to which symptoms and side effects, such as pain, fatigue, and poor sleep quality, affect the ability to perform normal daily activities. Emotional, or psychological, well-being refers to the the range of difficulty in coping with anxiety, depression, fear of cancer recurrence, and problems with memory and concentration. Social well-being refers to the health of relationships with family members and friends, including intimacy and sexuality. Employment and financial concerns also affect social well-being. Finally, spiritual well-being is derived from drawing meaning from the cancer experience, either in the context of religion or by maintaining hope and resilience in the face of uncertainty about one's future health.

Emotional well-being among long-term cancer survivors (5 years or more) is comparable to that of those with no history of cancer, while overall physical well-being is lower.^{135, 136} Not surprisingly, individuals who have a history of more invasive and aggressive treatments tend to report poorer functioning and quality of life in the long term. Certain groups of survivors, such as racial/ethnic minorities and those of lower socioeconomic status, also report greater difficulty regaining quality of life.^{137, 138} For example, one study of breast cancer survivors found that black women and women with lower socioeconomic status had poorer physical functioning than survivors of other races/ethnicities and with higher socioeconomic status.¹³⁹ In addition, survivors diagnosed at a younger age tend to have poorer emotional functioning, whereas older age at diagnosis is often associated with poorer physical functioning.^{135, 140, 141} Many survivors of childhood cancer have cognitive or functional deficits that impact their ability to successfully complete their education and find employment, which in turn can impact psychological and financial well-being and lower quality of life.^{51, 142, 143}

Risk of Recurrence and Subsequent Cancers

Even after treatment appears to have been effective, cancer cells may persist and grow, which is referred to as recurrence. Recurrence can occur near the site of the original cancer (local recurrence), in lymph nodes near the original site (regional recurrence), or elsewhere in the body (distant recurrence or metastasis). Although national estimates of recurrence are not available because this information is not collected by cancer registries, studies show that recurrence rates vary depending on tumor characteristics, stage of disease, and treatment. For some types of cancer, such as prostate, there are formulas that can help estimate the risk of recurrence based on stage and other clinical information.¹⁴⁴

Figure 14. Observed-to-expected (O/E) Ratios for Subsequent Cancers by Primary Site and Sex, Ages 20 and Older, 1975-2015



ONS = Other nervous system. *The ratio of the number of subsequent cancers observed among cancer survivors to the number of cancers expected is statistically significant (p<0.05). †Prostate cancer excludes subsequent prostate cancers due to potential bias from coding rules. NOTE: Observed-to-expected ratio is the number of cancers that were observed among cancer survivors in the SEER 9 areas, divided by the number of cancers expected in this population, calculated using the population-based age-specific incidence rates in the SEER 9 areas. **Source:** Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, 9 SEER registries, National Cancer Institute.

©2019, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

A subsequent (or multiple) primary cancer is a new cancer that is biologically distinct from the original cancer. Whether a cancer is a new primary or a recurrence is important because it determines prognosis and treatment. The risk of developing a subsequent primary cancer varies by the type of cancer first diagnosed (referred to as the first primary), treatment (e.g., radiation), age at diagnosis, and other factors. Ratios of the observed-to-expected number of cancer cases (O/E) among cancer survivors in population-based cancer registries are used to describe the risk for a subsequent cancer diagnosis, with the number expected based on cancer occurrence in the general population. As a whole, cancer survivors have a small increased risk of additional cancers. Risk is higher for those with a history of childhood cancer, as well as for adult survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma and tobacco-related cancers (oral cavity and pharynx, lung and bronchus, kidney and renal pelvis, esophagus, and urinary bladder)

(Figure 14). For example, female survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma treated with radiation to the chest during adolescence are at particularly increased risk of developing breast cancer. In addition to the carcinogenic effects of cancer treatment and shared risk factors, genetic susceptibility also influences risk.¹⁴⁵

The American Cancer Society's survivorship care guidelines include recommendations for clinicians regarding appropriate surveillance for recurrent and new primary cancers.^{35, 60, 128, 129} Cancer survivors who have completed treatment should ask their provider about the appropriate timing and types of follow-up tests recommended to look for recurrent or new cancer. Health strategies to reduce the risk of recurrence and additional cancers, as well as improve survivor health and quality of life, are provided in Regaining and Improving Health through Healthy Behaviors, page 26.

Financial Hardship among Cancer Survivors

Cancer survivors are vulnerable to financial hardship that may manifest as material (e.g., problems paying medical bills, medical debt, and bankruptcy), psychological (e.g., stress or worry about paying medical bills), or behavioral (e.g., delaying or forgoing necessary medical care because of cost) aspects. Survivors who are younger, underinsured or uninsured, and/or have lower income are more likely to experience financial hardship, as are long-term survivors of childhood cancer.142, 143, 146, 147 For example, in one study, 35% of cancer survivors ages 18-49 years reported difficulty in paying medical bills compared to 25% in those without a history of cancer; this gap narrowed substantially in ages 50-64 years, 27% versus 23%, respectively.¹⁴⁷ Younger cancer survivors are also more likely to report multiple aspects of financial hardship and greater hardship intensity than older cancer survivors. Medical financial hardship is most prevalent among cancer survivors without health insurance.148

Even when survivors have private or government health insurance, out-of-pocket costs of cancer care often pose a significant financial burden for them and their families that continues long after initial treatment is completed.¹⁴⁹ The passage of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2010 was intended to improve health insurance coverage options and population health. Provisions of the ACA include the introduction of the Health Insurance Marketplace, which allows individuals to enroll in private plans; dependent coverage expansion, which allows young adults to remain covered under a parents' private health insurance up until age 26 years; and expansion of Medicaid eligibility thresholds for low-income adults with and without children in some states. Between 2010 and 2014, the percentage of non-elderly cancer patients (<65 years of age) who were uninsured at diagnosis significantly decreased, especially among Medicaid expansion states.¹⁵⁰ Medicaid expansions were also associated with earlier stage disease among newly diagnosed cancer patients. Monitoring the effects of ACA provisions is ongoing, especially in relation to access to cancer treatment and survival.

Regaining and Improving Health through Healthy Behaviors

Survivors who minimize their exposure to cancer risk factors can reduce the risk of recurrence, progression, and additional cancers. For example, lung cancer survivors who do not smoke cigarettes after treatment have a lower risk of recurrence compared to survivors who do smoke.^{151, 152} In addition, healthy behaviors may improve survivor functioning and quality of life.¹⁵³ Exercise can improve heart and lung function and reduce cancer-related fatigue among survivors.¹⁵⁴ The growing evidence that healthy behaviors are beneficial to survivors led the American Cancer Society to develop a guideline for physical activity and nutrition for cancer survivors during and after treatment.¹⁵⁵ Since this guideline was originally released, a number of practical interventions for survivors addressing diet, weight, and physical activity have been developed and tested.¹⁵⁶

Smoking cessation. Despite the fact that smoking interferes with some common cancer treatments and increases the risk for 12 different cancer types, heart disease, and many other chronic health conditions,¹⁵⁷ a significant number of cancer survivors, particularly those who are young, continue to smoke after their diagnosis. During 2008 to 2017, 31% of cancer survivors ages 18 to 44 years were current smokers compared to 19% of those in the general population.¹⁵⁸ Smoking cessation efforts are often most successful when they are initiated soon after diagnosis.¹⁵⁹ Follow-up support for survivors who quit, and for those who are not initially successful, is also needed because recent research found almost 10% of survivors were still smoking 9 years after diagnosis.¹⁶⁰ Increasing survivors' access to cessation aids, developing tailored interventions, and health systems' use of the 5 A's (Ask, Advise, Assess, Assist, Arrange) are likely to reduce smoking among cancer survivors. For more information on American Cancer Society resources for smoking cessation, see page 31.

Physical activity. In patients who are physically able, physical activity can hasten recovery from the immediate side effects of treatment and prevent some long-term side effects, and may also reduce the risk of recurrence and

increase survival for some cancers.¹⁶¹ In observational studies among breast cancer survivors, moderate physical activity has been associated with reduced risk of death from all causes (24%-67%) and breast cancer (50%-53%).¹⁶² Similar benefits have been observed among colon cancer survivors.¹⁶³ Intervention studies have shown that exercise can improve fatigue, anxiety, depression, self-esteem, happiness, and quality of life in cancer survivors.¹⁶¹

Exercise recommendations should be tailored to the survivor's capabilities. Barriers to engaging in physical activity may be symptomatic (e.g., fatigue, pain, and nausea), physical (e.g., amputations, lymphedema, and neuropathy), psychosocial (e.g., feelings of fear, lack of motivation, or hopelessness), financial, or structural (e.g., unfavorable community environments). Physical impairments that would limit safe activity should be assessed by rehabilitation professionals before general exercise recommendations are made.³

Nutrition, alcohol consumption, and maintaining a healthy body weight. Weight management is an important issue for many survivors. Some patients are overweight or obese at the beginning of treatment and some may gain weight during treatment, while others may become underweight due to treatment-related side effects (e.g., nausea, vomiting, and difficulty swallowing).¹⁶⁴ Numerous studies have shown that obesity and weight gain in breast cancer survivors lead to a greater risk of recurrence and decreased survival; the evidence is less clear for colorectal and other cancers.¹⁶⁵ Obesity may also increase the risk of some treatment-related side effects, such as lymphedema and fatigue.¹⁶⁶ A diet plentiful in fruit, vegetables, and whole grains with limited amounts of fat, red and processed meat, and simple sugars may reduce the risk of both developing subsequent cancers and the risk of chronic diseases.¹⁶⁷ Head and neck cancer survivors should be advised to limit alcohol consumption due to their risk of developing a subsequent cancer and other adverse alcohol-related effects.¹²⁸ Studies have also shown an increased risk of recurrence among breast cancer survivors who consume three to four alcoholic drinks per week.¹⁶⁸

Skin care behaviors. Skin cancer survivors are particularly susceptible to developing subsequent skin cancers. In addition, survivors of other cancer types who have undergone radiation therapy are at an increased risk of skin cancer.¹⁶⁹ Behaviors that decrease the risk of skin cancer include wearing sunscreen and protective clothing and avoiding sunbathing and artificial tanning.

Cancer screening. In addition to any recommended surveillance for subsequent cancers or recurrence, it is important for cancer survivors to resume recommended screening for cancers for which they're at average risk of developing. Receiving recommended screening can detect cancer earlier, when treatment is often more likely to be successful, or, in the case of colorectal or cervical cancer, prevent cancer through the removal of precancerous lesions. In one meta-analysis, cancer survivors were about 20% more likely to report receiving screening for breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer compared with people without a history of cancer.¹⁷⁰ However, there is some evidence that overscreening among people with a history of cancer, particularly those with advanced disease, may lead to more harm than benefit.¹⁷¹

Concerns of Caregivers and Families

As hospital space becomes more limited to acute care and cancer treatments are delivered more frequently in outpatient settings, the tremendous responsibility of picking up where the health team leaves off increasingly rests with survivors' loved ones. As such, effective integration of informal cancer caregivers into health care delivery teams is essential for optimizing outcomes for both survivors and their caregivers.¹⁷²

Although increasing attention has been given to the need for greater surveillance of these caregivers and their needs, contemporary estimates of caregiver prevalence in the US continue to vary widely, ranging from 1.1 million to 6.1 million.¹⁷³ Most caregivers are the spouse (66%) or offspring (18%) of cancer patients, and caregivers are more likely to be women (65%) than men.¹⁷⁴ Caregiver responsibilities can include gathering information to advise treatment decisions, attending to treatment side effects, coordinating medical care, managing financial issues, and providing emotional support to the survivor. One study found that even more than a year after cancer diagnosis, caregivers were still spending an average of 8 hours per day providing some form of care, with the most associated with providing care for lung cancer patients.¹⁷⁵ Caregivers report a variety of persistent unmet needs,¹⁷⁶ particularly among those who are providing end-of-life care.^{177, 178} In one study, about 40% of caregivers reported that they found caregiving emotionally difficult, and 12% reported experiencing depression.¹⁷⁷ Caregivers may feel unprepared and overwhelmed in their role, which can result in deterioration of their mental and physical health and a decline in quality of life, including an increased risk of developing chronic disease, depression, and anxiety.¹⁷⁹ Social support programs aimed at teaching effective coping skills can help buffer the negative consequences of caregiver stress.¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸² Consultation with palliative care teams has also been shown to help ease family caregiver burdens. A systematic review suggested that caregivers benefit most from problem-solving and communication skills interventions.¹⁸² Web-based interventions have also shown promising results in reducing caregiver burden and improving mood.¹⁸¹ In addition, studies have shown that both survivors and their caregivers can benefit from the challenges associated with cancer, such as restoration of personal relationships, adoption of a more positive self-view, and becoming more empathetic.^{176, 183}

The Future of Cancer Survivorship in the United States

As the population of cancer survivors in the US grows, it will become increasingly essential to optimize health care delivery and long-term outcomes among survivors and their caregivers. A recent report from the National Cancer Institute identified several persistent gaps in the funding of survivorship research for cancer types other than female breast, as well as for older survivors and racial/ethnic minorities.¹⁸⁴ Several organizations have also proposed recommendations for furthering progress in cancer survivorship in the US via innovative and standardized care delivery for survivors and caregivers.^{172, 185} In particular, the American Cancer Society has set forth a "blueprint" to describe three priority areas for improving quality of life for long-term cancer survivors and their caregivers, including: 1) implementing routine needs assessment of survivors and caregivers; 2) facilitating personalized information and referrals from diagnosis onward for both survivors and caregivers; and 3) disseminating and supporting the implementation of new care methods and interventions.¹⁷²

Tools for Cancer Survivors and Caregivers

A number of tools to help survivors and caregivers have been developed through collaborations between the American Cancer Society and other institutions, including the George Washington University Cancer Institute, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and the National Cancer Institute. These include:

Life After Treatment Guide – a quick, easy-to-read information guide to help cancer survivors and their caregivers understand the various aspects of the survivorship journey. The guide includes trusted resources for survivorship information and tips on how to communicate with health care providers. Visit cancer.org/ survivorshipguide for a copy of the guide.

Springboard Beyond Cancer – Recognizing the lack of a free, comprehensive, online self-management tool specifically built for cancer survivors and caregivers, the American Cancer Society and the National Cancer Institute (NCI) began a joint venture and launched such a tool in October 2016. The eHealth tool includes interactive tools to help survivors implement self-management strategies, including, but not limited to, symptoms (e.g., fatigue, pain, sexual problems, weight gain), stress and mood (e.g., anxiety, depression, distress, fear of recurrence, mindfulness), wellness (getting active, healthy eating, quitting smoking), and getting support (from your health care team, family/friends/caregivers, at work, and peer-to-peer support).

Caregiver Resource Guide – The American Cancer Society is committed to providing much-needed support to the family members and friends who provide care to their loved one with cancer. As part of this commitment, targeted information, education, and support has been developed to meet their needs. Our *Caregiver Resource Guide* is designed to improve their: a) confidence in their role as a caregiver; b) caregiving skills in key areas; c) ability to manage their own health and wellness (psychosocial and physical); and d) access to services through multiple modalities and channels. Visit cancer.org/caregiverguide to download.

Caregiver Support Video Series – Caregivers often feel unprepared to care for their loved one. Our *Caregiver Support Video Series* was developed to provide educational support to caregivers as they assist with the everyday needs of cancer patients and provide selfcare techniques to improve their quality of life. Topics include: a) caregiver self-care (nutrition, physical activity, stress management and coping, dealing with fear of recurrence, and deep breathing/ meditation); b) advocacy, or how to effectively communicate the patient's needs; and c) physical care training (drain care, lifting, pain management, medication management, symptom/side effect management, and identifying signs of infection). Visit cancer.org/ caregivervideos to watch the series.

Tools for Health Care Professionals

Tools to help health care professionals deliver better survivorship care include:

Adult Posttreatment Cancer Survivorship Care Guidelines – a series of guidelines developed to assist primary care providers and other clinicians as they provide long-term, clinical follow-up care for cancer survivors, including surveillance for recurrence, screening for new cancers, management of chronic and late effects, support for health behavior changes, and referrals for rehabilitation, psychosocial, and palliative care needs or other specialty care. Guidelines for survivors of prostate, female breast, colorectal, and head and neck cancers have been released. (Visit cancer.org/ professionals for copies of the guidelines.) An overview of this ongoing work, available at bit.ly/SurvivorshipCenter, was previously published. To facilitate delivery of this care, a toolkit was developed that includes resources to help clinicians implement these guidelines, along with information about provider training opportunities and patient materials. (Visit bit.ly/NCSRCToolkit for copies of the toolkit.)

A Cancer Survivor's Prescription for Finding Information – a tool to help health care professionals talk to survivors about resources available in their office or clinic, in the community, online, and over the phone. Visit cancer.org/survivorshipprescription for a copy of the tool.

Moving Beyond Patient Satisfaction: Tips to Measure Program Impact Guide – a brief guide that details indicators and outcome measures that can be used to monitor the success of survivorship programs. Visit cancer.org/survivorshipprogramevaluation for a copy.

Guide for Delivering Survivorship Care – a guide that provides health care professionals with the knowledge, tools, and resources to deliver high-quality cancer survivorship care to cancer survivors. Visit smhs.gwu.edu/gwci/survivorship/ncsrc/guidequalitycare for a copy.

Cancer Survivorship E-Learning Series for Primary Care

Providers – a free online continuing education program designed to educate primary care providers on the care needs of cancer survivors, and on the cancer survivorship care guidelines to help them provide clinical follow-up care for cancer survivors. Visit cancersurvivorshipcentereducation.org to access the series online.

Smartphone App for Clinicians – a free mobile app is available to house content from the breast, colorectal, head and neck, and prostate cancer survivorship care guidelines. The app makes this content available for clinicians as a tool for use in the clinical encounter.

Tools for cancer advocates and policy makers

Cancer Survivorship: A Policy Landscape Analysis – a white paper designed to educate policy makers on survivorship issues and describe the priority areas for improving cancer survivorship care. Visit cancer.org/survivorshippolicypapers for a copy of the paper.

The American Cancer Society

How the American Cancer Society Saves Lives

With a dedicated team of volunteers and staff, the American Cancer Society is leading the fight for a world without cancer.

Prevention and Early Detection

Smoking still causes about 30% of all cancer deaths in the US, including more than 80% of lung cancer deaths. The American Cancer Society continues our long history of work to reduce tobacco use through research (see page 34), education, and advocacy (see page 34). Our Center for Tobacco Control is working toward the adoption and implementation of smoke- and tobacco-free policies in all workplaces, public places, and other important venues such as multiunit residential settings. In addition, we're taking an increasingly proactive role in addressing the changing landscape related to rapidly emerging tobaccorelated markets, including for electronic smoking products such as e-cigarettes.

For Americans who do not smoke, the most important way to reduce cancer risk is to maintain a healthy, active lifestyle. The American Cancer Society regularly performs a formal review of the current scientific evidence on diet and cancer and synthesizes it into clear, informative recommendations for the general public to promote healthy individual behaviors and environments that support healthy eating and physical activity to reduce cancer risk. These nutrition and physical activity guidelines form the foundation for our communication, worksite, school, and community strategies designed to encourage and support people in making healthy lifestyle behavior choices.

Finding cancer at its earliest, most treatable stage gives patients the greatest chance of survival. Moreover, screening tests for cervical and colorectal cancer can detect precancers, allowing for cancer prevention. To help the public and health care providers make informed decisions about cancer screening, the American Cancer Society publishes early-detection guidelines based on the most current scientific evidence for cancers of the breast, cervix, colorectum, endometrium, lung, and prostate. In addition, the American Cancer Society has a history of implementing aggressive campaigns to increase awareness among the public and health care professionals of the value of cancer screening. Campaigns to increase use of Pap testing and mammography have helped contribute to a 71% decrease in cervical cancer mortality since 1969 and a 40% decline in breast cancer mortality since 1989, respectively. Building on these successes, the American Cancer Society and the National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable (NCCRT) launched an initiative in 2014 to increase colorectal cancer screening rates to 80% nationwide in adults 50 and older by 2018. More than 1,700 organizations have committed to this shared goal, and this dedication to collective action is working. Colorectal cancer screening rates have improved in most states, and an additional 3.3 million people were screened between 2014 and 2016. However, there are still too many communities with lower screening rates. In response, the American Cancer Society, the CDC, and the NCCRT introduced the 80% in Every Community campaign in 2019. The new campaign continues the momentum in bringing down barriers to screening, and its mission will not be achieved until every community benefits from screening rates of 80% and higher.

Similarly, seeing the need to reduce the incidence of and mortality from human papillomavirus (HPV)-associated cancers, we provide guidelines for HPV vaccination and established the National HPV Vaccination Roundtable, which is working with health care professionals nationwide to increase HPV vaccination rates in adolescents. With a variety of programs such as the NCCRT, the National HPV Vaccination Roundtable, and the Community Health Advocates implementing Nationwide Grants for Empowerment and Equity (CHANGE) program, we work with community health partners and corporations across the nation to increase access to preventive care and improve health equity. Together in 2018, we contributed to nearly 91,700 low- or no-cost screening exams in underserved communities. By helping local facilities provide cancer education and screening for more underserved patients, we are helping to reduce death rates from breast, cervical, and colorectal cancers.

Through our Vaccinate Adolescent Programs, Cancer Control staff have implemented structured HPV vaccination interventions and Maintenance of Certification intervention projects in 91 federally qualified health care centers. Our staff have trained over 10,000 providers on HPV vaccination as cancer prevention. Clinics have seen an average HPV series initiation rate increase of 16% over the course of our year-long intervention projects.

More than 5 million new cases of skin cancer will be diagnosed in the US in 2019. That's why the American Cancer Society and other members of the National Council on Skin Cancer Prevention have designated the Friday before Memorial Day as Don't Fry Day. We promote skin cancer prevention and awareness educational messages in support of Don't Fry Day and year-round.

The American Cancer Society also works with companies across the US to help their employees learn more about taking action to help reduce their cancer risk. We work alongside employers to strengthen a culture of health and provide employee-focused resources and information.

Some products we offer include:

The Quit For Life[®] Program: This is the nation's leading tobacco cessation program, offered by 25 states and territories, including Guam and Washington, DC, and more than 700 employers and health plans throughout the US. Operated and managed by Optum, the program is built on the organizations' more than 35 years of combined experience in tobacco cessation. It employs an evidence-based combination of physical, psychological, and behavioral strategies to enable participants to overcome their addiction to tobacco. A critical mix of medication support, phone-based cognitive behavioral coaching, text messaging, web-based learning, and support tools produces a higher-than-average quit rate. The Freshstart[®] program: This group-based tobacco cessation program is designed to help employees plan a successful quit attempt by providing essential information, skills for coping with cravings, and social support. The program is delivered through hospital systems, employers, military bases, universities/colleges, community health organizations, and other systems.

The 80% Pledge for Colorectal Cancer – Employers guide: This detailed guide includes steps to follow to increase colorectal cancer screening in the workplace, including making the commitment; working with health plans and wellness staff to ensure coverage is understood, promoted, and designed effectively; capturing data to show progress; and sharing effective strategies with the public.

The **Content Subscription Service:** This electronic toolkit subscription is offered by the American Cancer Society to employers who support the health and wellness needs of employees with information about cancer prevention and early detection.

The *Healthy Living* newsletter: Produced by the American Cancer Society, this monthly electronic newsletter teaches the importance of making healthy lifestyle choices. The e-newsletter focuses on exercising, eating better, and maintaining a healthy weight. *Healthy Living* is available in both English and Spanish, and the content has been edited by our scientific staff to ensure that the most up-to-date and accurate information is being provided.

Cancer Information

Caring, trained American Cancer Society staff connect people to answers about a cancer diagnosis, health insurance assistance, American Cancer Society programs and services, and referrals to other services at our 24/7 helpline at 1-800-227-2345. Our website, cancer.org, offers reliable and accurate cancer information and news, including current information on treatments and side effects for every major cancer type, and programs and services nearby. We also help people who speak languages other than English or Spanish find the assistance they need at cancer.org/easyreading or cancer.org/ cancer-information-in-other-languages. The American Cancer Society also publishes brochures and books that cover a multitude of topics, from patient education, quality of life, and caregiving issues to healthy living. Visit cancer.org/bookstore for a list of books that are available to order. All of our books are also available from all major book retailers such as Amazon and Barnes & Noble. Call 1-800-227-2345 or visit cancer.org for brochures. We also publish three peer-reviewed scientific journals for health care providers and researchers: *Cancer, Cancer Cytopathology*, and *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. Visit cancer.org/health-care-professionals/ resources-for-professionals.html to learn about the journals and their content.

Programs and Services

Survivorship. American Cancer Society survivorship work aims to help people living with and beyond cancer from diagnosis through long-term survivorship to the end of life. Efforts focus on helping survivors understand and access treatment; manage their ongoing physical, psychosocial, and functional problems; and engage in healthy behaviors to optimize their wellness. Our posttreatment survivorship care guidelines are designed to promote survivor healthiness and quality of life by facilitating the delivery of high-quality, comprehensive, coordinated clinical follow-up care. Our survivorship research efforts focus on understanding the impact of cancer on multiple facets of survivors' lives and on developing and testing interventions to help survivors actively engage in their health care and improve their health and well-being through and beyond treatment. Through the National Cancer Survivorship Resource Center, a collaboration between the American Cancer Society and the George Washington University Cancer funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, we created the Cancer Survivorship E-Learning Series for Primary Care Providers. The free e-learning program is designed to teach clinicians how to care for survivors of adult-onset cancers.

Support for caregivers. Contemporary estimates of caregiver prevalence range between 1.1 million and 6.1 million individuals, and we are committed to meeting their information, education, and support needs. We support the notion that cancer is not isolated only to

the individual diagnosed but also impacts an entire family unit and network of close friends. One of the informational tools we offer caregivers is our *Caregiver Resource Guide*, which can help them: learn to care for themselves as a caregiver, better understand what their loved one is going through, develop skills for coping and caring, and take steps to help protect their own health and well-being.

Help navigating the health care system. Learning how to navigate the cancer journey and the health care system can be overwhelming for anyone, but it is particularly difficult for those who are medically underserved, those who experience language or health literacy barriers, and those with limited resources. The American Cancer Society Patient Navigator Program reaches those most in need. It has specially trained patient navigators across the country who can help: find transportation to treatment and other cancer-related appointments; assist with medical financial issues, including insurance navigation; identify community resources; and provide information on a patient's cancer diagnosis and treatment process. In 2018, more than 34,000 people relied on the program to help them through their diagnosis and treatment.

Transportation to treatment. One of the biggest roadblocks to treatment can be the lack of transportation. That's why the American Cancer Society started the Road To Recovery[®] program. It's at the very heart of our work of removing barriers to quality health care by providing patients transportation to treatment through volunteer drivers, partners, or community organizations. In 2018, we provided more than 480,000 rides to more than 28,000 cancer patients. Other transportation programs are also available in certain areas.

Lodging during treatment. The American Cancer Society Hope Lodge[®] program provides a free home away from home for cancer patients and their caregivers. More than just a roof over their heads, it's a nurturing community that helps patients access the care they need. In 2018, more than 30 Hope Lodge locations provided nearly 477,000 nights of free lodging to more than 27,000 patients and caregivers – saving them an estimated \$49 million in hotel expenses. Through our Hotel Partners Program, we also partner with local hotels to provide free or discounted lodging for patients who are not able to make frequent trips for treatment appointments.

Breast cancer support. Through the American Cancer Society Reach To Recovery[®] program, breast cancer patients are connected with trained volunteers who have had similar diagnoses and treatment plans to provide peer-to-peer support on everything from practical and emotional issues to helping them cope with their disease, treatment, and long-term survivorship issues. In 2018, the program provided more than 5,400 visits.

Hair-loss and mastectomy products. The American Cancer Society *"tlc*" Tender Loving Care[®] publication offers affordable hair loss and mastectomy products for women coping with cancer, as well as advice on how to use them. Products include wigs, hairpieces, hats, turbans, breast forms, and mastectomy bras, camisoles, and swimwear. The *"tlc*"TM products and catalogs are available online at tlcdirect.org or by calling 1-800-850-9445.

Finding hope and inspiration. The American Cancer Society Cancer Survivors Network[®] provides a safe online connection where cancer patients can find others with similar experiences and interests. At csn.cancer.org, members can join chat rooms and build their own support network from among the members. Other online resources, including MyLifeLine and Springboard Beyond Cancer, provide additional support for patients, survivors, and caregivers and allow them to better communicate to receive the help they need during and after cancer.

Other Sources of Survivor Information and Support

CancerCare 1-800-813-HOPE or 1-800-813-4673 cancercare.org

CancerCare provides professionally facilitated support services for anyone affected by cancer, including a toll-free counseling line, various support groups (online, telephone, or face-to-face), and Connect Education Workshops. Cancer Support Community 1-888-793-9355 cancersupportcommunity.org

Through a nonprofit network of cancer support worldwide, Cancer Support Community (CSC) offers free support services through professionally led communitybased centers, hospitals, community oncology practices, and online communities. The CSC is focused on providing essential, but often overlooked, services, including support groups, counseling, education, and healthy lifestyle programs. In collaboration with the LIVESTRONG Foundation, the CSC developed the Cancer Transitions program for posttreatment cancer survivors, which covers the benefits of exercise, nutrition, relaxation, emotional support, and medical management.

LIVESTRONG Foundation 1-855-220-7777 livestrong.org

The LIVESTRONG Foundation fights to improve the lives of people affected by cancer. Created in 1997, the foundation provides free services and resources that help improve patient and survivor outcomes and address the practical, emotional, employment and financial challenges that come with cancer. LIVESTRONG has also partnered with the YMCA to provide a 12-week program promoting physical activity after a cancer diagnosis (livestrong.org/what-we-do/program/livestrong-at-the-ymca).

National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship 1-877-NCCS-YES or 1-877-622-7937 canceradvocacy.org

The National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship offers free publications and resources that empower people to become strong advocates for their own care or the care of others. The coalition's flagship program is the awardwinning Cancer Survival Toolbox, a self-learning audio series developed by leading cancer organizations to help people develop crucial skills to understand and meet the challenges of their illness. National Alliance for Caregiving (NAC) 1-301-718-8444 caregiving.org

The NAC is a nonprofit coalition of national organizations focusing on advancing family caregiving through research, innovation, and advocacy. The alliance conducts research, does policy analysis, develops national best-practice programs, and works to increase public awareness of family caregiving issues.

Patient Advocate Foundation 1-800-532-5274 patientadvocate.org

The Patient Advocate Foundation (PAF) is a national nonprofit organization that seeks to safeguard patients through effective mediation, assuring access to care, maintenance of employment, and preservation of financial stability. The PAF serves as an active liaison between patients and their insurer, employer, and/or creditors to resolve insurance, job retention, and/or debt crisis matters relative to their diagnosis through professional case managers, doctors, and health care attorneys.

Research

Research is at the heart of the American Cancer Society's mission. For more than 70 years, we have invested in innovative research, all to find the causes, preventions, and better treatments for cancer, as well as ways to help people thrive during and after treatment. The top-tier facilities and programs we fund study everything from nutrition to genetics to environmental and even behavioral factors to find answers that lead to understanding, resulting in more effective treatments.

As of February 19, 2019, the American Cancer Society is funding more than \$67 million in cancer treatment research and approximately \$91 million in cancer control, survivorship, and outcomes research. We have awarded 82 grants in symptom management and palliative care focused on patient, survivor, and quality of life research. Of those, 11 grants were funded through a partnership with the National Palliative Care Research Center over the past 10 years, with three new grantees added in 2019. Specific examples of ongoing and recent intramural and extramural research include:

- Testing whether an eight-week mobile app-based mindfulness program is accepted and useful for patients receiving chemotherapy and their caregivers
- Developing and providing a training on fear of cancer recurrence among cancer survivors to multidisciplinary primary care providers
- Examining a dyadic yoga program in couples coping with lung cancer
- Testing an intervention involving systematic light exposure to treat cancer-related fatigue in prostate cancer patients receiving radiation therapy
- Exploring the burden of treatment experienced by cancer patients with comorbid conditions
- Testing a self-management intervention combining personalized education and exercise advice to help control joint pain in older breast cancer survivors after beginning hormonal therapy
- Exploring the use of patient-reported outcome measures in cancer care (e.g., distress screening) at Commission on Cancer-accredited cancer centers
- Examining interactions between cancer patients and their caregivers to identify strategies that can enhance survivor-caregiver relationships and quality of life, particularly among medically underserved survivors
- Developing and testing an eHealth tool to help cancer survivors and caregivers self-manage their most pressing cancer-related issues

Advocacy

Saving lives from cancer is as much a matter of public policy as scientific discovery. Lawmakers at the local, state, and federal level play a critical role in enacting policies that help save lives – from quality, affordable health care for all Americans; increasing funding for cancer research and programs; and improving quality of life for patients and their families, to helping communities prevent cancer and promote good health. The American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network (ACS CAN), the nonprofit, nonpartisan advocacy affiliate of the American Cancer Society, supports evidence-based policy and legislative solutions designed to eliminate cancer as a major health problem. ACS CAN empowers advocates across the country to make their voices heard and influence evidence-based public policy change as well as legislative and regulatory solutions that will reduce the cancer burden.

Created in 2001, ACS CAN is the force behind a powerful grassroots movement uniting and empowering cancer patients, survivors, caregivers, and their families to save lives from cancer. As the nation's leading voice advocating for public policies that help to defeat cancer, ACS CAN works to encourage elected officials and candidates to make cancer a top national priority. In recent years, ACS CAN has successfully worked to pass and implement laws at the federal, state, and local levels that: assure cancer patients and survivors have access to adequate and affordable health insurance coverage; increase funding for groundbreaking cancer research; improve access to prevention and early detection measures, treatment, and follow-up care; and improve quality of life for cancer patients and survivors.

ACS CAN's advocacy priorities on behalf of cancer patients and their families are outlined in the following sections.

Access to Care

ACS CAN continues to advocate to protect key patient protections enacted as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), including eliminating insurance coverage exclusions, preventing preexisting condition exclusions, eliminating annual and lifetime benefit caps, maintaining essential health benefit coverage requirements, and removing copays for key cancer prevention and early-detection services like mammography and colonoscopy. The organization is actively working with states to expand eligibility for Medicaid programs, allowing millions of low-income individuals and families to gain access to comprehensive and affordable health care coverage. Additionally, ACS CAN urges policy makers to advance and support policies that protect and improve low-income Americans' access to health care to improve health outcomes and reduce the burden of cancer.

ACS CAN is also advocating for other important patient protections, including:

- The prohibition of short-term limited-duration plans, association health plans, and other plans that do not cover comprehensive benefits or protect patients against high needs and costs
- Market stabilization measures, including state individual mandates for insurance coverage
- Full federal funding for community health centers, which provide community-oriented primary care in underserved areas
- Access to preventive services without cost sharing

Research Funding and Drug Development

ACS CAN is a leader in the effort to ensure full funding for the nation's public cancer research institutions, including the National Institutes of Health and its National Cancer Institute. Each year, nearly \$5 billion in grant funding for cancer research is distributed to investigators working in cancer centers, universities, and labs in every state of the country. Federal budget pressures threaten this funding every year, and ACS CAN views this driver of the research pipeline to be of prime importance in the search for cures, and fights not only to protect this funding, but also to expand it.

In addition to advocating for cancer research funding, ACS CAN works to increase cancer patient access to innovative therapies by improving clinical trial enrollment. Clinical trials are the key step in advancing potential new cancer treatments from the research setting to the cancer care clinic, and patient participation in trials is crucial to their success. Around 20 percent of cancer clinical trials fail due to insufficient patient enrollment. To improve enrollment, ACS CAN, in collaboration with other cancer stakeholders, identified and is working on a set of consensus recommendations to improve clinical trial enrollment.

Prevention and Early Detection

ACS CAN is supporting policies that focus on the prevention and early detection of cancer by ensuring access to evidence-based prevention and early detection services, reducing tobacco use and exposure to secondhand smoke, promoting healthy eating and active living, reducing exposure to UV radiation emitted by indoor tanning devices, and increasing uptake of the HPV vaccination to help prevent cancer.

Quality of Life

ACS CAN supports balanced pain policies at the federal and state levels that ensure continued patient and survivor access to pain treatments. The organization also supports the enactment of the Palliative Care and Hospice Education and Training Act to assure that cancer patients have full access to palliative care services, along with curative treatment, from the point of diagnosis through treatment and survivorship or end of life as needed. The legislation provides for increased training and professional development in palliative care, a nationwide public and provider education campaign to disseminate information about the benefits of palliative care, and additional research on pain and symptom management with the intent of improving patient care.

Central to ACS CAN's success is the sophisticated and effective volunteer structure. Across the country, volunteers in every congressional district work closely with ACS CAN to organize and execute advocacy campaigns. Together, these committed volunteers recruit and support other volunteers dedicated to the most critical components of successful advocacy campaigns. They include grassroots mobilization, media outreach, fundraising, and integrating advocacy into the American Cancer Society Relay For Life[®], Making Strides Against Breast Cancer[®], Colleges Against Cancer[®] and Coaches vs. Cancer[®] signature programs and events.

Sources of Statistics

Prevalence. Cancer prevalence was projected using the Prevalence, Incidence Approach Model, a method that calculates prevalence from cancer incidence, cancer survival, and all-cause mortality.¹⁸⁶ Incidence and survival were modeled by cancer type, sex, and age group using malignant cancer cases diagnosed during 1975-2015 from the nine oldest registries in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program (2017 data submission). Incident cases included the first diagnosed cancer for a specific cancer type from 1975 to 2015. Mortality data for 1975 to 2015 were obtained from the National Center for Health Statistics. Population estimates and projections through 2030 were obtained from the US Bureau of Census. Projected US incidence and mortality for 2016 to 2030 were calculated by applying 5-year average rates (2011-2015) to the respective US population projections by age, sex, race, and year. Survival, incidence, and all causes of mortality were assumed to be constant from 2016 through 2030. For more information on this method, please see publications by Mariotto et al.187

New cancer cases. The number of new cancer cases in the US in 2019 was published previously.¹⁸⁸ The estimates were calculated using a spatiotemporal model based on incidence data from 49 states and the District of Columbia for 2001 to 2015 that met the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries' high-quality data standard for incidence. This method considers geographic variations in sociodemographic and lifestyle factors, medical settings, and cancer screening behaviors as predictors of incidence, and also accounts for expected delays in case reporting.

Survival. This report presents relative survival rates to describe cancer survival for selected cancers. Relative survival adjusts for normal life expectancy (and events such as death from heart disease, accidents, and diseases of old age) by comparing survival among cancer patients to that of people not diagnosed with cancer who are of the same age, race, and sex. Five-year survival statistics for all stages combined presented in this publication were originally published in the National Cancer

Institute's Ca*ncer Statistics Review 1975-2015.*¹⁴ Current survival estimates are based on cases diagnosed during 2008 to 2014 and followed through 2015 from the 18 SEER registries.³⁰ However, when describing changes in 5-year relative survival over time, survival rates were based on cases from the 9 SEER registries.⁶⁶ These survival statistics are generated using the National Cancer Institute's SEER*Stat software version 8.3.5.¹⁸⁹

National Cancer Data Base. The National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) is a hospital-based cancer registry jointly sponsored by the American Cancer Society and the American College of Surgeons, and includes more than 70% of all malignant cancers in the United States from more than 1,500 facilities accredited by the American College of Surgeons' Commission on Cancer (CoC). The NCDB contains standardized data regarding patient demographics, cancer type, and staging, as well as first course of treatment. The NCDB also collects detailed treatment information on radiation and systemic therapies, which is limited or unavailable in populationbased registry data. Visit the SEER-Rx website, seer.cancer. gov/tools/seerrx, for further information regarding the classification of anti-cancer drugs into the categories of chemotherapy, immunotherapy, hormonal therapy, and targeted therapy.

Although the NCDB is a useful tool in describing cancer treatment at a national level, it may not be fully representative of all cancer patients treated in the United States. Data are only collected for patients diagnosed or treated at CoC-accredited facilities, which are more likely to be located in urban areas and tend to be larger centers compared to non-CoC-accredited facilities. Additionally, cancers that are commonly treated and diagnosed in non-hospital settings (e.g., melanoma, prostate cancer, and nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer) are less likely to be captured by the NCDB because it is a hospital-based registry. Visit facs.org/cancer/ncdb for more information about the NCDB.

References

1. Berry LL, Davis SW, Godfrey Flynn A, Landercasper J, Deming KA. Is it time to reconsider the term "cancer survivor"? *J Psychosoc Oncol.* 2019;1-14.

2. Islam T, Dahlui M, Majid HA, et al. Factors associated with return to work of breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14 Suppl 3: S8.

3. Silver JK, Baima J, Mayer RS. Impairment-driven cancer rehabilitation: an essential component of quality care and survivorship. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2013;63: 295-317.

4. Smith T, et al. Breast and colon cancer patient perceptions of the management of cancer-related pain, fatigue and emotional distress in community oncology. *J Clin Oncol.* 2019; [Epub ahead of print].

5. Wu HS, Harden JK. Symptom burden and quality of life in survivorship: a review of the literature. *Cancer Nurs.* 2015;38: E29-54.

6. Stanton AL, Rowland JH, Ganz PA. Life after diagnosis and treatment of cancer in adulthood: contributions from psychosocial oncology research. *Am Psychol.* 2015;70: 159-174.

7. Smith TG, Castro KM, Troeschel AN, et al. The rationale for patientreported outcomes surveillance in cancer and a reproducible method for achieving it. *Cancer*. 2016;122: 344-351.

8. Luo T, Spolverato G, Johnston F, Haider AH, Pawlik TM. Factors that determine cancer treatment choice among minority groups. *J Oncol Pract*. 2015;11: 259-261.

9. Walker GV, Grant SR, Guadagnolo BA, et al. Disparities in stage at diagnosis, treatment, and survival in nonelderly adult patients with cancer according to insurance status. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014;32: 3118-3125.

10. Ward E, Halpern M, Schrag N, et al. Association of insurance with cancer care utilization and outcomes. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2008;58: 9-31.

11. Jemal A, Robbins AS, Lin CC, et al. Factors That Contributed to Black-White Disparities in Survival Among Nonelderly Women With Breast Cancer Between 2004 and 2013. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36: 14-24.

12. Ellis L, Canchola AJ, Spiegel D, Ladabaum U, Haile R, Gomez SL. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Survival: The Contribution of Tumor, Sociodemographic, Institutional, and Neighborhood Characteristics. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36: 25-33.

13. Mariotto AB, Etzioni R, Hurlbert M, Penberthy L, Mayer M. Estimation of the Number of Women Living with Metastatic Breast Cancer in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2017;26: 809-815.

14. Noone AM, Howlader N, Krapcho M, et al. *SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2015.* http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2015/, based on November 2017 SEER data submission. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute, 2018.

15. Jatoi I, Proschan MA. Randomized trials of breast-conserving therapy versus mastectomy for primary breast cancer: a pooled analysis of updated results. *Am J Clin Oncol.* 2005;28: 289-294.

16. Litiere S, Werutsky G, Fentiman IS, et al. Breast conserving therapy versus mastectomy for stage I-II breast cancer: 20 year follow-up of the EORTC 10801 phase 3 randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13: 412-419.

17. Kummerow KL, Du L, Penson DF, Shyr Y, Hooks MA. Nationwide trends in mastectomy for early-stage breast cancer. *JAMA Surg.* 2015;150: 9-16.

18. McGuire KP, Santillan AA, Kaur P, et al. Are mastectomies on the rise? A 13-year trend analysis of the selection of mastectomy versus breast conservation therapy in 5865 patients. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2009;16: 2682-2690.

19. Albornoz CR, Matros E, Lee CN, et al. Bilateral Mastectomy versus Breast-Conserving Surgery for Early-Stage Breast Cancer: The Role of Breast Reconstruction. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2015;135: 1518-1526.

20. Freedman RA, Virgo KS, Labadie J, He Y, Partridge AH, Keating NL. Receipt of locoregional therapy among young women with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2012;135: 893-906.

21. Nash R, Goodman M, Lin CC, et al. State Variation in the Receipt of a Contralateral Prophylactic Mastectomy Among Women Who Received a Diagnosis of Invasive Unilateral Early-Stage Breast Cancer in the United States, 2004-2012. *JAMA Surg*, 2017;152: 648-657.

22. Kruper L, Kauffmann RM, Smith DD, Nelson RA. Survival analysis of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy: a question of selection bias. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2014;21: 3448-3456.

23. Lester-Coll NH, Lee JM, Gogineni K, Hwang WT, Schwartz JS, Prosnitz RG. Benefits and risks of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy in women undergoing treatment for sporadic unilateral breast cancer: a decision analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2015;152: 217-226.

24. Portschy PR, Kuntz KM, Tuttle TM. Survival outcomes after contralateral prophylactic mastectomy: a decision analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2014;106.

25. Razdan SN, Cordeiro PG, Albornoz CR, et al. National Breast Reconstruction Utilization in the Setting of Postmastectomy Radiotherapy. *J Reconstr Microsurg*. 2017;33: 312-317.

26. Albornoz CR, Bach PB, Mehrara BJ, et al. A paradigm shift in U.S. Breast reconstruction: increasing implant rates. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2013;131: 15-23.

27. DeSantis CE, Ma J, Goding Sauer A, Newman LA, Jemal A. Breast cancer statistics, 2017, racial disparity in mortality by state. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2017;67: 439-448.

28. Burstein HJ, Lacchetti C, Anderson H, et al. Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy for Women With Hormone Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update. *J Clin Oncol.* 2019;37: 423-438.

29. Messina C, Cattrini C, Buzzatti G, et al. CDK4/6 inhibitors in advanced hormone receptor-positive/HER2-negative breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2018;172: 9-21.

30. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program (www.seer.cancer.gov) SEER*Stat Database: Incidence – SEER 18 Regs Research Data + Hurricane Katrina Impacted Louisiana Cases, Nov 2017 Sub (2000-2015) <Katrina/Rita Population Adjustment> - Linked To County Attributes – Total U.S., 1969-2016 Counties, National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, released April 2018, based on the November 2017 submission.

31. Berry DA, Cronin KA, Plevritis SK, et al. Effect of screening and adjuvant therapy on mortality from breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*. 2005;353: 1784-1792.

32. Danforth DN, Jr. Disparities in breast cancer outcomes between Caucasian and African American women: a model for describing the relationship of biological and nonbiological factors. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2013;15: 208.

33. DiSipio T, Rye S, Newman B, Hayes S. Incidence of unilateral arm lymphoedema after breast cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Oncol.* 2013;14: 500-515. 34. Schmitz KH, Ahmed RL, Troxel AB, et al. Weight lifting for women at risk for breast cancer-related lymphedema: a randomized trial. *JAMA*. 2010;304: 2699-2705.

35. Runowicz CD, Leach CR, Henry NL, et al. American Cancer Society/American Society of Clinical Oncology Breast Cancer Survivorship Care Guideline. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015.

36. Wang K, Yee C, Tam S, et al. Prevalence of pain in patients with breast cancer post-treatment: A systematic review. *Breast.* 2018;42: 113-127.

37. Wang L, Guyatt GH, Kennedy SA, et al. Predictors of persistent pain after breast cancer surgery: a systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. *CMAJ*. 2016;188: E352-E361.

38. Armenian SH, Lacchetti C, Barac A, et al. Prevention and Monitoring of Cardiac Dysfunction in Survivors of Adult Cancers: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. *J Clin Oncol.* 2017;35: 893-911.

39. Carter J, Lacchetti C, Andersen BL, et al. Interventions to Address Sexual Problems in People With Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Adaptation of Cancer Care Ontario Guideline. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36:492-511.

40. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, et al. Fertility Preservation in Patients With Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Update. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36:1994-2001.

41. Howard-Anderson J, Ganz PA, Bower JE, Stanton AL. Quality of life, fertility concerns, and behavioral health outcomes in younger breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2012;104: 386-405.

42. Conte P, Frassoldati A. Aromatase inhibitors in the adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: Putting safety issues into perspective. *Breast J.* 2007;13: 28-35.

43. Cuzick J, Sestak I, Bonanni B, et al. Selective oestrogen receptor modulators in prevention of breast cancer: an updated meta-analysis of individual participant data. *Lancet*. 2013;381: 1827-1834.

44. Fingeret MC, Teo I, Epner DE. Managing body image difficulties of adult cancer patients: lessons from available research. *Cancer*. 2014;120: 633-641.

45. Phillips SM, Padgett LS, Leisenring WM, et al. Survivors of childhood cancer in the United States: prevalence and burden of morbidity. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2015;24:653-663.

46. Parsons HM, Harlan LC, Seibel NL, Stevens JL, Keegan TH. Clinical trial participation and time to treatment among adolescents and young adults with cancer: does age at diagnosis or insurance make a difference? *J Clin Oncol.* 2011;29: 4045-4053.

47. Boissel N, Sender LS. Best Practices in Adolescent and Young Adult Patients with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Focus on Asparaginase. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol*. 2015;4: 118-128.

48. Bleyer A. Young adult oncology: the patients and their survival challenges. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2007;57: 242-255.

49. Meadows AT, Friedman DL, Neglia JP, et al. Second neoplasms in survivors of childhood cancer: findings from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort. *J Clin Oncol.* 2009;27: 2356-2362.

50. Armstrong GT, Kawashima T, Leisenring W, et al. Aging and risk of severe, disabling, life-threatening, and fatal events in the childhood cancer survivor study. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014;32: 1218-1227.

51. Hudson MM, Ness KK, Gurney JG, et al. Clinical ascertainment of health outcomes among adults treated for childhood cancer. *JAMA*. 2013;309: 2371-2381.

52. Kalyan A, Kircher S, Shah H, Mulcahy M, Benson A. Updates on immunotherapy for colorectal cancer. *J Gastrointest Oncol*. 2018;9: 160-169.

53. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and EndResults (SEER) Program. SEER-Medicare linked database 2006–2010. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute, Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences, Applied Research Program, Health Services and Economics Branch; 2013.

54. Jansen L, Koch L, Brenner H, Arndt V. Quality of life among longterm (>/=5 years) colorectal cancer survivors –systematic review. *Eur J Cancer*. 2010;46: 2879-2888.

55. Ramsey SD, Berry K, Moinpour C, Giedzinska A, Andersen MR. Quality of life in long term survivors of colorectal cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol.* 2002;97: 1228-1234.

56. Emmertsen KJ, Laurberg S, Rectal Cancer Function Study G. Impact of bowel dysfunction on quality of life after sphincterpreserving resection for rectal cancer. *Br J Surg*, 2013;100: 1377-1387.

57. Lange MM, Martz JE, Ramdeen B, et al. Long-term results of rectal cancer surgery with a systematical operative approach. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2013;20: 1806-1815.

58. Liu L, Herrinton LJ, Hornbrook MC, Wendel CS, Grant M, Krouse RS. Early and late complications among long-term colorectal cancer survivors with ostomy or anastomosis. *Dis Colon Rectum*. 2010;53: 200-212.

59. Schneider EC, Malin JL, Kahn KL, Ko CY, Adams J, Epstein AM. Surviving colorectal cancer : patient-reported symptoms 4 years after diagnosis. *Cancer*. 2007;110: 2075-2082.

60. El-Shami K, Oeffinger KC, Erb NL, et al. American Cancer Society Colorectal Cancer Survivorship Care Guidelines. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2015;65: 427-455.

61. Primrose JN, Perera R, Gray A, et al. Effect of 3 to 5 years of scheduled CEA and CT follow-up to detect recurrence of colorectal cancer: the FACS randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. 2014;311: 263-270.

62. Tjandra JJ, Chan MK. Follow-up after curative resection of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. *Dis Colon Rectum*. 2007;50: 1783-1799.

63. Mariotto AB, Rowland JH, Ries LA, Scoppa S, Feuer EJ. Multiple cancer prevalence: a growing challenge in long-term survivorship. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16: 566-571.

64. Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) Program (www.seer.cancer.gov) SEER*Stat Database: NAACCR Incidence – CiNA Analytic File, 1995-2015, for NHIAv2 Origin, Custom File With County, ACS Facts and Figures Projection Project, North American Association of Central Cancer Registries.

65. Dohner H, Weisdorf DJ, Bloomfield CD. Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *N Engl J Med.* 2015;373: 1136-1152.

66. Dohner H, Estey EH, Amadori S, et al. Diagnosis and management of acute myeloid leukemia in adults: recommendations from an international expert panel, on behalf of the European LeukemiaNet. *Blood.* 2010;115:453-474.

67. Etienne G, Guilhot J, Rea D, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of the French Stop Imatinib (STIM1) Study in Patients With Chronic Myeloid Leukemia. *J Clin Oncol.* 2017;35: 298-305.

68. Inaba H, Greaves M, Mullighan CG. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Lancet*. 2013;381: 1943-1955.

69. Dai H, Wang Y, Lu X, Han W. Chimeric Antigen Receptors Modified T-Cells for Cancer Therapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2016;108. 70. Burger JA, Tedeschi A, Barr PM, et al. Ibrutinib as Initial Therapy for Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *N Engl J Med*. 2015;373: 2425-2437.

71. Goede V, Fischer K, Busch R, et al. Obinutuzumab plus chlorambucil in patients with CLL and coexisting conditions. *NEngl J Med.* 2014;370: 1101-1110.

72. Hillmen P, Robak T, Janssens A, et al. Chlorambucil plus ofatumumab versus chlorambucil alone in previously untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (COMPLEMENT 1): a randomised, multicentre, open-label phase 3 trial. *Lancet*. 2015;385: 1873-1883.

73. Lee AI, LaCasce AS. Nodular lymphocyte predominant Hodgkin lymphoma. *Oncologist*. 2009;14: 739-751.

74. National Cancer Database, American College of Surgeons Commission on Cancer, 2016 Data Submission. American College of Surgeons, 2019.

75. Coiffier B. State-of-the-art therapeutics: diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2005;23: 6387-6393.

76. Miller TP, Dahlberg S, Cassady JR, et al. Chemotherapy alone compared with chemotherapy plus radiotherapy for localized intermediate- and high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339: 21-26.

77. Armitage JO, Gascoyne RD, Lunning MA, Cavalli F. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Lancet*. 2017;390: 298-310.

78. Vargo JA, Gill BS, Balasubramani GK, Beriwal S. Treatment Selection and Survival Outcomes in Early-Stage Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma: Do We Still Need Consolidative Radiotherapy? *J Clin Oncol.* 2015;33: 3710-3717.

79. Shankland KR, Armitage JO, Hancock BW. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Lancet*. 2012;380: 848-857.

80. Socie G, Ritz J. Current issues in chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Blood*. 2014;124: 374-384.

81. Ng AK, Mauch PM. Late effects of Hodgkin's disease and its treatment. *Cancer J.* 2009;15: 164-168.

82. van Nimwegen FA, Schaapveld M, Janus CP, et al. Risk of diabetes mellitus in long-term survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014;32: 3257-3263.

83. Nathan PC, Patel SK, Dilley K, et al. Guidelines for identification of, advocacy for, and intervention in neurocognitive problems in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2007;161:798-806.

84. Horn L, Mansfield AS, Szczesna A, et al. First-Line Atezolizumab plus Chemotherapy in Extensive-Stage Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;379: 2220-2229.

85. Poghosyan H, Sheldon LK, Leveille SG, Cooley ME. Health-related quality of life after surgical treatment in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review. *Lung Cancer*. 2013;81: 11-26.

86. Chambers SK, Dunn J, Occhipinti S, et al. A systematic review of the impact of stigma and nihilism on lung cancer outcomes. *BMC Cancer*. 2012;12: 184.

87. Karimkhani C, Gonzalez R, Dellavalle RP. A review of novel therapies for melanoma. *Am J Clin Dermatol.* 2014;15: 323-337.

88. Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C, et al. Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;364: 2507-2516.

89. Jang S, Atkins MB. Which drug, and when, for patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma? *Lancet Oncol.* 2013;14: e60-69.

90. Balamurugan A, Rees JR, Kosary C, Rim SH, Li J, Stewart SL. Subsequent primary cancers among men and women with in situ and invasive melanoma of the skin. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* 2011;65: S69-77.

91. Albertsen PC, Hanley JA, Fine J. 20-year outcomes following conservative management of clinically localized prostate cancer. *JAMA*. 2005;293: 2095-2101.

92. Lu-Yao GL, Albertsen PC, Moore DF, et al. Outcomes of localized prostate cancer following conservative management. *JAMA*. 2009;302: 1202-1209.

93. Shappley WV, 3rd, Kenfield SA, Kasperzyk JL, et al. Prospective study of determinants and outcomes of deferred treatment or watchful waiting among men with prostate cancer in a nationwide cohort. *J Clin Oncol.* 2009;27: 4980-4985.

94. Mahal BA, Butler S, Franco I, et al. Use of Active Surveillance or Watchful Waiting for Low-Risk Prostate Cancer and Management Trends Across Risk Groups in the United States, 2010-2015. *JAMA*. 2019.

95. Cooperberg MR, Carroll PR. Trends in Management for Patients With Localized Prostate Cancer, 1990-2013. *JAMA*. 2015;314: 80-82.

96. Beer TM, Armstrong AJ, Rathkopf DE, et al. Enzalutamide in metastatic prostate cancer before chemotherapy. *N Engl J Med.* 2014;371: 424-433.

97. de Bono JS, Logothetis CJ, Molina A, et al. Abiraterone and increased survival in metastatic prostate cancer. *NEngl J Med.* 2011;364: 1995-2005.

98. Ryan CJ, Smith MR, de Bono JS, et al. Abiraterone in metastatic prostate cancer without previous chemotherapy. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;368: 138-148.

99. Scher HI, Fizazi K, Saad F, et al. Increased survival with enzalutamide in prostate cancer after chemotherapy. *N Engl J Med.* 2012;367: 1187-1197.

100. Alicikus ZA, Yamada Y, Zhang Z, et al. Ten-year outcomes of high-dose, intensity-modulated radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. *Cancer.* 2011;117: 1429-1437.

101. Nam RK, Cheung P, Herschorn S, et al. Incidence of complications other than urinary incontinence or erectile dysfunction after radical prostatectomy or radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a population-based cohort study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2014;15: 223-231.

102. Resnick MJ, Koyama T, Fan KH, et al. Long-term functional outcomes after treatment for localized prostate cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;368: 436-445.

103. Saylor PJ, Smith MR. Metabolic complications of androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. *J Urol.* 2013;189: S34-42; discussion S43-34.

104. Deka R, Rose BS, Bryant AK, et al. Androgen deprivation therapy and depression in men with prostate cancer treated with definitive radiation therapy. *Cancer*. 2019.

105. Dinh KT, Reznor G, Muralidhar V, et al. Association of Androgen Deprivation Therapy With Depression in Localized Prostate Cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2016;34: 1905-1912.

106. Hanna NH, Einhorn LH. Testicular cancer – discoveries and updates. *N Engl J Med*. 2014;371: 2005-2016.

107. Leung E, Warde P, Jewett M, et al. Treatment burden in stage I seminoma: a comparison of surveillance and adjuvant radiation therapy. *BJU Int.* 2013;112: 1088-1095.

108. Pitt SC, Moley JF. Medullary, anaplastic, and metastatic cancers of the thyroid. *Semin Oncol.* 2010;37: 567-579.

109. Haymart MR, Banerjee M, Stewart AK, Koenig RJ, Birkmeyer JD, Griggs JJ. Use of radioactive iodine for thyroid cancer. *JAMA*. 2011;306: 721-728.

110. Wells SA, Jr., Asa SL, Dralle H, et al. Revised American Thyroid Association guidelines for the management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Thyroid*. 2015;25: 567-610.

111. Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, et al. 2015 American Thyroid Association Management Guidelines for Adult Patients with Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer: The American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. *Thyroid*. 2016;26: 1-133.

112. Cheung G, Sahai A, Billia M, Dasgupta P, Khan MS. Recent advances in the diagnosis and treatment of bladder cancer. *BMC Med.* 2013;11: 13.

113. Mak RH, Hunt D, Shipley WU, et al. Long-term outcomes in patients with muscle-invasive bladder cancer after selective bladder-preserving combined-modality therapy: a pooled analysis of Radiation Therapy Oncology Group protocols 8802, 8903, 9506, 9706, 9906, and 0233. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014;32: 3801-3809.

114. Mitin T, Hunt D, Shipley WU, et al. Transurethral surgery and twice-daily radiation plus paclitaxel-cisplatin or fluorouracilcisplatin with selective bladder preservation and adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with muscle invasive bladder cancer (RTOG 0233): a randomised multicentre phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2013;14: 863-872.

115. Heney NM, Ahmed S, Flanagan MJ, et al. Superficial bladder cancer: progression and recurrence. *J Urol.* 1983;130: 1083-1086.

116. Lutzeyer W, Rubben H, Dahm H. Prognostic parameters in superficial bladder cancer: an analysis of 315 cases. *J Urol.* 1982;127: 250-252.

117. Lee RK, Abol-Enein H, Artibani W, et al. Urinary diversion after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer: options, patient selection, and outcomes. *BJU Int.* 2014;113: 11-23.

118. Roghmann F, Becker A, Trinh QD, et al. Updated assessment of neobladder utilization and morbidity according to urinary diversion after radical cystectomy: A contemporary US-population-based cohort. *Can Urol Assoc J.* 2013;7: E552-560.

119. Zietman AL, Sacco D, Skowronski U, et al. Organ conservation in invasive bladder cancer by transurethral resection, chemotherapy and radiation: results of a urodynamic and quality of life study on long-term survivors. J Urol. 2003;170: 1772-1776.

120. Audette C, Waterman J. The sexual health of women after gynecologic malignancy. *J Midwifery Womens Health.* 2010;55: 357-362.

121. Tada H, Teramukai S, Fukushima M, Sasaki H. Risk factors for lower limb lymphedema after lymph node dissection in patients with ovarian and uterine carcinoma. *BMC Cancer*. 2009;9: 47.

122. Silver JK, Baima J. Cancer prehabilitation: an opportunity to decrease treatment-related morbidity, increase cancer treatment options, and improve physical and psychological health outcomes. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* 2013;92: 715-727.

123. Cheville AL, Mustian K, Winters-Stone K, Zucker DS, Gamble GL, Alfano CM. Cancer Rehabilitation: An Overview of Current Need, Delivery Models, and Levels of Care. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am*. 2017;28: 1-17.

124. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Distress Management (Version 1.2019). https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/distress. pdf. Accessed February 27, 2019. 125. Mehnert A, Hartung TJ, Friedrich M, et al. One in two cancer patients is significantly distressed: Prevalence and indicators of distress. *Psychooncology*. 2018;27:75-82.

126. Silver JK, Raj VS, Fu JB, Wisotzky EM, Smith SR, Kirch RA. Cancer rehabilitation and palliative care: critical components in the delivery of high-quality oncology services. *Support Care Cancer*. 2015;23: 3633-3643.

127. Parikh RB, Kirch RA, Smith TJ, Temel JS. Early specialty palliative care – translating data in oncology into practice. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;369: 2347-2351.

128. Osagiede O, Colibaseanu DT, Spaulding AC, et al. Palliative Care Use Among Patients With Solid Cancer Tumors: A National Cancer Data Base Study. *J Palliat Care*. 2018;33: 149-158.

129. Cohen EEW, LaMonte SJ, Erb NL, et al. American Cancer Society Head and Neck Cancer Survivorship Care Guideline. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2016.

130. Skolarus TA, Wolf AM, Erb NL, et al. American Cancer Society prostate cancer survivorship care guidelines. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2014;64: 225-249.

131. Institute of Medicine. *From cancer patient to cancer survivor: Lost in transition*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2006.

132. Fashoyin-Aje LA, Martinez KA, Dy SM. New Patient-Centered Care Standards from the Commission on Cancer: Opportunities and Challenges. *J Support Oncol.* 2012.

133. Institute of Medicine. *Implementing cancer survivorship care planning*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2007.

134. Jacobsen PB, DeRosa AP, Henderson TO, et al. Systematic Review of the Impact of Cancer Survivorship Care Plans on Health Outcomes and Health Care Delivery. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36: 2088-2100.

135. Weaver KE, Forsythe LP, Reeve BB, et al. Mental and physical health-related quality of life among U.S. cancer survivors: population estimates from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2012;21: 2108-2117.

136. Kent EE, Ambs A, Mitchell SA, Clauser SB, Smith AW, Hays RD. Health-related quality of life in older adult survivors of selected cancers: data from the SEER-MHOS linkage. *Cancer*. 2015;121: 758-765.

137. Ashing-Giwa KT, Tejero JS, Kim J, Padilla GV, Hellemann G. Examining predictive models of HRQOL in a population-based, multiethnic sample of women with breast carcinoma. *Qual Life Res.* 2007;16: 413-428.

138. Zeltzer LK, Lu Q, Leisenring W, et al. Psychosocial outcomes and health-related quality of life in adult childhood cancer survivors: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008;17: 435-446.

139. Bowen DJ, Alfano CM, McGregor BA, et al. Possible socioeconomic and ethnic disparities in quality of life in a cohort of breast cancer survivors. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2007;106: 85-95.

140. Sweeney C, Schmitz KH, Lazovich D, Virnig BA, Wallace RB, Folsom AR. Functional limitations in elderly female cancer survivors. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2006;98: 521-529.

141. Rowland JH, Bellizzi KM. Cancer survivorship issues: life after treatment and implications for an aging population. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014;32: 2662-2668.

142. Ketterl TG, Syrjala KL, Casillas J, et al. Lasting effects of cancer and its treatment on employment and finances in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Cancer*. 2019.

143. Huang IC, Bhakta N, Brinkman TM, et al. Determinants and Consequences of Financial Hardship Among Adult Survivors of Childhood Cancer: A Report From the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2018.

144. Shariat SF, Kattan MW, Vickers AJ, Karakiewicz PI, Scardino PT. Critical review of prostate cancer predictive tools. *Future Oncol.* 2009;5: 1555-1584.

145. Fraumeni JF, Curtis RE, Edwards BK, Tucker MA. Introduction, pgs 1-8. *New Malignancies Among Cancer Survivors: SEER Cancer Registries, 1973-2000.* Bethesda, MD: NIH Publ. No. 05-5302, 2006.

146. Nathan PC, Henderson TO, Kirchhoff AC, Park ER, Yabroff KR. Financial Hardship and the Economic Effect of Childhood Cancer Survivorship. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36: 2198-2205.

147. Zheng Z, Jemal A, Han X, et al. Medical financial hardship among cancer survivors in the United States. *Cancer*. 2019.

148. Yabroff KR, Dowling EC, Guy GP, Jr., et al. Financial Hardship Associated With Cancer in the United States: Findings From a Population-Based Sample of Adult Cancer Survivors. *J Clin Oncol*. 2016;34: 259-267.

149. Guy GP, Jr., Yabroff KR, Ekwueme DU, et al. Healthcare Expenditure Burden Among Non-elderly Cancer Survivors, 2008-2012. *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;49: S489-497.

150. Han X, Yabroff KR, Ward E, Brawley OW, Jemal A. Comparison of Insurance Status and Diagnosis Stage Among Patients With Newly Diagnosed Cancer Before vs After Implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. *JAMA Oncol.* 2018;4: 1713-1720.

151. Do KA, Johnson MM, Lee JJ, et al. Longitudinal study of smoking patterns in relation to the development of smoking-related secondary primary tumors in patients with upper aerodigestive tract malignancies. *Cancer*. 2004;101: 2837-2842.

152. Parsons A, Daley A, Begh R, Aveyard P. Influence of smoking cessation after diagnosis of early stage lung cancer on prognosis: systematic review of observational studies with meta-analysis. *BMJ*. 2010;340: b5569.

153. Blanchard CM, Stein KD, Baker F, et al. Association between curnet lifestyle behaviors and health-related quality of life in breast, colorectal, and prostate cancer survivors. *Psychology & Health*. 2004;19: 1-13.

154. Mustian KM, Alfano CM, Heckler C, et al. Comparison of Pharmaceutical, Psychological, and Exercise Treatments for Cancer-Related Fatigue: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA Oncol.* 2017;3: 961-968.

155. Rock CL, Doyle C, Demark-Wahnefried W, et al. Nutrition and physical activity guidelines for cancer survivors. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2012;62: 243-274.

156. Demark-Wahnefried W, Rogers LQ, Alfano CM, et al. Practical clinical interventions for diet, physical activity, and weight control in cancer survivors. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2015;65: 167-189.

157. Burke L, Miller LA, Saad A, Abraham J. Smoking behaviors among cancer survivors: an observational clinical study. *J Oncol Pract.* 2009;5: 6-9.

158. Cancer Trends Progress Report National Cancer Institute, NIH, DHHS, Bethesda, MD, March 2015. Available from: https://www. progressreport.cancer.gov/after/smoking. [Accessed March 19, 2019].

159. Sanderson Cox L, Patten CA, Ebbert JO, et al. Tobacco use outcomes among patients with lung cancer treated for nicotine dependence. *J Clin Oncol*. 2002;20: 3461-3469.

160. Westmaas JL, Alcaraz KI, Berg CJ, Stein KD. Prevalence and correlates of smoking and cessation-related behavior among survivors of ten cancers: findings from a nationwide survey nine years after diagnosis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2014;23: 1783-1792.

161. Courneya KS, Mackey JR, Bell GJ, Jones LW, Field CJ, Fairey AS. Randomized controlled trial of exercise training in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors: cardiopulmonary and quality of life outcomes. *J Clin Oncol.* 2003;21: 1660-1668.

162. Irwin ML, Mayne ST. Impact of nutrition and exercise on cancer survival. *Cancer J.* 2008;14: 435-441.

163. Denlinger CS, Engstrom PF. Colorectal cancer survivorship: movement matters. *Cancer Prev Res* (Phila). 2011;4: 502-511.

164. Toles M, Demark-Wahnefried W. Nutrition and the cancer survivor: evidence to guide oncology nursing practice. *Semin Oncol Nurs*. 2008;24: 171-179.

165. Kushi LH, Doyle C, McCullough M, et al. American Cancer Society guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention: Reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2012;62: 30-67.

166. Schmitz KH, Neuhouser ML, Agurs-Collins T, et al. Impact of obesity on cancer survivorship and the potential relevance of race and ethnicity. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2013;105: 1344-1354.

167. Barrera S, Demark-Wahnefried W. Nutrition during and after cancer therapy. *Oncology* (Williston.Park). 2009;23: 15-21.

168. Kwan ML, Kushi LH, Weltzien E, et al. Alcohol consumption and breast cancer recurrence and survival among women with earlystage breast cancer: the life after cancer epidemiology study. *J Clin Oncol.* 2010;28: 4410-4416.

169. Buchanan N, Leisenring W, Mitby PA, et al. Behaviors associated with ultraviolet radiation exposure in a cohort of adult survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Cancer*. 2009;115: 4374-4384.

170. Corkum M, Hayden JA, Kephart G, Urquhart R, Schlievert C, Porter G. Screening for new primary cancers in cancer survivors compared to non-cancer controls: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *J Cancer Surviv.* 2013;7: 455-463.

171. Sima CS, Panageas KS, Schrag D. Cancer screening among patients with advanced cancer. *JAMA*. 2010;304: 1584-1591.

172. Alfano CM, Leach CR, Smith TG, et al. Equitably improving outcomes for cancer survivors and supporting caregivers: A blueprint for care delivery, research, education, and policy. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2019;69: 35-49.

173. Kent EE, Dionne-Odom JN. Population-Based Profile of Mental Health and Support Service Need Among Family Caregivers of Adults With Cancer. *J Oncol Pract.* 2019;15:e122-e131. 174. Kim Y, Spillers RL. Quality of life of family caregivers at 2 years after a relative's cancer diagnosis. *Psychooncology*. 2010;19: 431-440.

175. Yabroff KR, Kim Y. Time costs associated with informal caregiving for cancer survivors. *Cancer*. 2009;115: 4362-4373.

176. Kim Y, Kashy DA, Spillers RL, Evans TV. Needs assessment of family caregivers of cancer survivors: three cohorts comparison. *Psychooncology*. 2010;19: 573-582.

177. Ornstein KA, Kelley AS, Bollens-Lund E, Wolff JL. A National Profile Of End-Of-Life Caregiving In The United States. *Health Aff* (Millwood). 2017;36: 1184-1192.

178. Moghaddam N, Coxon H, Nabarro S, Hardy B, Cox K. Unmet care needs in people living with advanced cancer: a systematic review. *Support Care Cancer*. 2016;24: 3609-3622.

179. van Ryn M, Sanders S, Kahn K, et al. Objective burden, resources, and other stressors among informal cancer caregivers: a hidden quality issue? *Psychooncology*. 2011;20: 44-52.

180. Applebaum AJ, Breitbart W. Care for the cancer caregiver: a systematic review. *Palliat Support Care*. 2013;11: 231-252.

181. Dubenske LL, Gustafson DH, Namkoong K, et al. CHESS Improves Cancer Caregivers' Burden and Mood: Results of an eHealth RCT. *Health Psychol.* 2013.

182. Waldron EA, Janke EA, Bechtel CF, Ramirez M, Cohen A. A systematic review of psychosocial interventions to improve cancer caregiver quality of life. *Psychooncology*. 2013;22: 1200-1207.

183. Carver CS, Antoni MH. Finding benefit in breast cancer during the year after diagnosis predicts better adjustment 5 to 8 years after diagnosis. *Health Psychol.* 2004;23: 595-598.

184. Rowland JH, Gallicchio L, Mollica M, Saiontz N, Falisi AL, Tesauro G. Survivorship Science at the NIH: Lessons Learned From Grants Funded in Fiscal Year 2016. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2019.

185. Kline RM, Arora NK, Bradley CJ, et al. Long-Term Survivorship Care After Cancer Treatment - Summary of a 2017 National Cancer Policy Forum Workshop. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2018;110: 1300-1310.

186. Verdecchia A, De Angelis G, Capocaccia R. Estimation and projections of cancer prevalence from cancer registry data. *Stat Med.* 2002;21: 3511-3526.

187. Mariotto AB, Yabroff KR, Feuer EJ, De Angelis R, Brown M. Projecting the number of patients with colorectal carcinoma by phases of care in the US: 2000-2020. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2006;17: 1215-1226.

188. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2019;69: 7-34.

189. Surveillance Research Program, National Cancer Institute. SEER*Stat Software. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute, 2018.

Acknowledgments

The production of this report would not have been possible without the efforts of: Kassandra Alcaraz; Catherine Alfano; Rick Alteri; Cammie Barnes; Durado Brooks; Rachel Spillers Cannady; Karim Chamie; Ellen Chang; Amy Chen; Carol DeSantis; Christopher Flowers; Phillip Gray; Xuesong Han; Anna Howard; Mamta Kalidas; Joan Kramer; Corinne Leach; Alex Little; Angela Mariotto; Cheri Richard; Julia Rowland; Debbie Saslow; Scott Simpson; Jennifer Singleterry; Tenbroeck Smith; Dana Wagner; Robin Yabroff.

For more information, contact:

Kimberly Miller, MPH Leticia Nogueira, PhD Rebecca Siegel, MPH Ahmedin Jemal, DVM, PhD The American Cancer Society's mission is to **save lives**, **celebrate lives**, and **lead the fight** for a world without cancer.



Attacking from every angle." cancer.org | 1-800-227-2345





National Health Council Standards of Excellence Certification Program ®